Regulation of Organ Development by Auxin and the SHI/STY-family of Transcriptional Regulators

Veronika Ståldal

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Plant Biology and Forest Genetics Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2011 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2011:14

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7549-1 © 2011 Veronika Ståldal, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2011

Regulation of Organ Development by Auxin and the SHI/STYfamily of Transcriptional Regulators.

Abstract

Transcription factors, proteins regulating the transcription of target genes, and plant hormones play important roles in the regulation of plant development. The plant hormone auxin has been assigned functions in many developmental processes and its differential distribution between cells, created mainly by local auxin biosynthesis and polar auxin transport, results in auxin maxima and gradients, which appear to be important for its role in developmental regulation.

The work in this thesis reveals that members of the Arabidopsis thaliana SHI/STY protein family, which redundantly regulates the development of lateral organs, act as DNA binding transcriptional activators. The SHI/STY member STY1, expressed at specific sites in developing primordia and organs, binds to the promoter of the YUC4 auxin biosynthesis gene. Our data suggest that the control of local auxin biosynthesis, through transcriptional activation of *e.g.* YUC4, is important for SHI/STY regulated development of lateral organs. We could show that local auxin application restores SHI/STY mutant style defects. Furthermore, using a polar auxin transport inhibitor, auxin was found to act independently of the style-promoting factors CRC, LUG, SEU, SPT and STY1 in style development, suggesting that auxin may act downstream or in parallel with these genes, but not in apical-basal patterning of the gynoecium.

Additional STY1 downstream targets have been identified and include genes encoding transcription factors, another auxin biosynthesis enzyme, and enzymes involved in cell expansion. Functional studies on some of these genes reveal roles in stamen and leaf development as well as in flowering time regulation.

The upstream regulation of *SHI/STY* genes has also been studied and a conserved GCC-box-like promoter element has been shown to be important for the transcriptional regulation of *SHI/STY* genes, providing a possible mechanism for the co-regulation of the SHI/STY protein accumulation.

Keywords: Arabidopsis thaliana, auxin, gynoecium, leaf, organ development, SHI/STY-family, stamen, STYLISH1, transcriptional activator, YUCCA4.

Author's address: Veronika Ståldal, SLU, Department Plant Biology and Forest Genetics, P.O. Box 7080, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Veronika.Staldal@slu.se The greatest obstacle to discovery is not ignorance – it is the illusion of knowledge. Daniel J. Boorstin

Contents

List of Publications		
Introduo	ction	9
Arabic	lopsis thaliana	9
The pl	ant hormone auxin	10
1.2.1	Biosynthesis	11
1.2.2	Storage and inactivation	14
1.2.3	Transport	15
1.2.4	Signalling	16
Plant o	development	18
1.3.1	Phase transitions	18
1.3.2	Organ development	18
Transo	criptional regulation	28
1.4.1	Transcription factors	29
1.4.2	Cis-regulatory elements	30
The S	<i>HI/STY</i> gene family	31
Aims of	the study	33
Results	and discussion	35
SHI/S	TY-family members are transcriptional activators (II, III)	35
3.1.1	SHI/STY-family members are localized to the nucleus	35
3.1.2	SHI/STY-family members activate transcription	35
3.1.3	SHI/STY-family members interact with the YUC4 promoter	36
SHI/S	TY-family members are positive regulators of auxin	
biosynthesis (I, II, III)		36
3.2.1	SHI/STY-family members affect auxin biosynthesis rate and	
	auxin levels	36
3.2.2	SHI/STY-family members activate transcription of auxin	
	biosynthesis genes	37
SHI/S	TY-family members regulate gynoecium development at least	
partly	by affecting local auxin levels (I, II, III)	37
3.3.1	The style defects in $sty1-1$ $sty2-1$ plants can be restored by	
	elevated apical auxin levels	38
3.3.2	Both overexpression of SIY1 and inhibition of PAT, can	
	restore style development in diverse mutants	38
3.3.3	A model for SHI/STY-tamily regulation of gynoecium development	39
	t of Public Introduc Arabic The pl 1.2.1 1.2.2 1.2.3 1.2.4 Plant of 1.3.1 1.3.2 Transo 1.4.1 1.4.2 The <i>S</i> Aims of Results 3.1.1 3.1.2 3.1.3 SHI/S 3.1.1 3.2.2 SHI/S partly 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3	 i of Publications Introduction Arabidopsis thaliana The plant hormone auxin 1.2.1 Biosynthesis 1.2.2 Storage and inactivation 1.2.3 Transport 1.2.4 Signalling Plant development 1.3.1 Phase transitions 1.3.2 Organ development Transcriptional regulation 1.4.1 Transcription factors 1.4.2 Cis-regulatory elements The SHI/STY gene family Aims of the study Results and discussion SHI/STY-family members are transcriptional activators (II, III) 3.1.1 SHI/STY-family members are localized to the nucleus 3.1.2 SHI/STY-family members are transcription 3.1.3 SHI/STY-family members are positive regulators of auxin biosynthesis (I, II, III) 3.2.1 SHI/STY-family members affect auxin biosynthesis rate and auxin levels 3.2.2 SHI/STY-family members activate transcription of auxin biosynthesis genes SHI/STY-family members regulate gynoecium development at least partly by affecting local auxin levels 3.2.1 The style defects in <i>sty1-1 sty2-1</i> plants can be restored by elevated apical auxin levels 3.3.2 Both overexpression of STY1 and inhibition of PAT, can restore style development in diverse mutants 3.3.3 A model for SHI/STY-family regulation of gynoecium development

3.4	SHI/S	TY-family members regulate organ development through	
	different downstream target genes (II, III)		39
	3.4.1	Two of the downstream targets affect auxin levels	41
	3.4.2	Other downstream targets probably directly affect cell	
		expansion	42
	3.4.3	Many of the downstream targets are transcription factors	
		and can affect organ development via target genes	42
3.5 SHI/STY-family promoters contain a GCC-box-like regulatory			
	eleme	nt that could be important for regulation of STY1-mediated	
	auxin l	piosynthesis (IV)	43
4	4 Conclusions		
	_		
5	5 Future perspectives		
Ref	References		
Astronulada ano ata			
Acknowledgements			65

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Ståldal, V^{*}., Sohlberg, J.J^{*}., Eklund, D.M., Ljung, K. & Sundberg, E. (2008). Auxin can act independently of CRC, LUG, SEU, SPT and STY1 in style development but not apical-basal patterning of the Arabidopsis gynoecium. *New Phytologist* 180, 798-808.
- II Eklund, D.M., Ståldal, V., Valsecci, I., Cierlik, I., Eriksson, C., Hiratsu, K., Ohme-Takagi, M., Sundström, J.F., Thelander, M., Ezcurra, I. & Sundberg, E. (2010). The *Arabidopsis thaliana* STYLISH1 protein acts as a transcriptional activator regulating auxin biosynthesis. *Plant Cell* 22(2), 349-363.
- III Ståldal, V., Cierlik, I., Chen, S., Landberg, K., Baylis, T., Myrenås, M., Sundström, J., Eklund, D.M., Ljung, K. & Sundberg, E. The *Arabidopsis thaliana* transcriptional activator STYLISH1 regulates genes affecting stamen development, cell expansion and timing of flowering (manuscript).
- IV Eklund, D.M^{*}., Cierlik, I^{*}., Ståldal, V., Vestman, D., Chandler, J. & Sundberg, E. Expression of SHORT INTERNODES/STYLISH family genes in auxin biosynthesis zones of aerial organs is dependent on a GCC-box-like regulatory element (manuscript).

Papers I-II are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

* Indicates shared first authorship

The contribution of Veronika Ståldal to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Participated in planning of the project. Made lab-work including auxin, NPA and DEX treatment, phenotypic analysis, SEM and preparations for auxin biosynthesis measurements. Participated in analyzing data and writing the manuscript. Have made around half the amount of work on this paper.
- II Participated in planning of the project. Made lab-work including most q-RT-PCRs and Y1H experiment with mutated promoter. Participated in analyzing data and writing the manuscript.
- III Participated in planning of the project. Made the majority of the labwork and data analysis. Have done most of the writing, including writing the first draft of the manuscript.
- IV Participated in planning of the project. Made lab-work including part of the IAA and ACC treatment experiments and part of the expression analysis of *SHI/STY* genes after DRNL-ER activation and in the *drn drnl puchi* mutant. Participated in analyzing data and writing the manuscript.



1 Introduction

Plants and other multicellular organisms are built up of different organs specialized for various tasks. The development of an organ, from a few undifferentiated cells to a multicellular structure consisting of several different tissue types and having a special form and function, is a fascinating and complicated process. Understanding the processes of organ development and how they are regulated is an important challenge for plant biologists. We are dependent on plants for food production and also use plants for many other purposes, *e.g.* as building material, for decoration, and for producing energy, clothes and pharmaceuticals. In addition to being interesting, the knowledge about how plant organ development is regulated is therefore of fundamental importance for our society.

1.1 Arabidopsis thaliana

Arabidopsis thaliana (Arabidopsis) is a flowering plant belonging to the mustard family (Brassicaceae). This small weed is not used for production of food, feed, fuel or other products but is today the most well studied species among all flowering plants (reviewed in Meyerowitz, 1987; Bevan and Walsh, 2005; Shindo et al, 2007; Koornneef and Meinke, 2010). The first experimental research on *Arabidopsis* was performed in the beginning of the 20th century and from the late 1970s *Arabidopsis* has become the dominating model plant species among plant molecular biologists. Several properties, such as small size, short generation time, high seed production, self-pollination and small genome size, make *Arabidopsis* suitable for use as a model organism in plant research. *Arabidopsis* has a genome size of around 146 mega bases (MB), which is small compared to most other plants, and the genome has been sequenced (The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative, 2000). Resources such as stock centres, databases and collections of insertion

mutants also exist. *Arabidopsis* can be found in many different parts of the world, in a large variety of climatic regions, allowing for studies of environmental, genetic and epigenetic adaptation. Local populations of *Arabidopsis* are called ecotypes or accessions and Columbia (Col), Landsberg *erecta* (Ler) and Wassilewskija (Ws) are examples of accessions commonly used in research.

1.2 The plant hormone auxin

Plant hormones are small molecules that occur at low concentrations in the plant and regulate growth and development in response to different internal and external factors (reviewed in Santner and Estelle, 2009; Santner et al., 2009; Wolters and Jürgens, 2009). They can either be transported to distant tissues or act locally, in the same tissues as they are produced, and affect their target cells by binding to specific receptors. The six major classes of plant hormones are auxins, gibberellins, cytokinins, ethylene, abscisic acid and brassinosteroids, but other types of plant hormones also exist.

Auxin is a very important hormone, regulating developmental processes as well as responses to both abiotic and biotic external factors like gravity, light and pathogens (reviewed in Tanaka et al., 2006; Bari and Jones, 2009). Defects in auxin biosynthesis, transport or response have large effects on plant shape and function. During embryogenesis auxin is required for establishment of polarity, initiation of cotyledons and establishment of the root pole (reviewed in Möller and Weijers, 2009; Vanneste and Friml, 2009). During post-embryonic development auxin regulates *e.g.* root elongation, vascular differentiation, organ patterning and initiation of leaves, flower organs and lateral roots (reviewed in Alabadí et al., 2009; Overvoorde et al., 2010; Scarpella et al., 2010; Vernoux et al., 2010).

The most abundant, and most important, auxin in higher plants is indole-3-acetic acid (IAA). Several other naturally occurring and synthetic compounds have similar effects as IAA, *e.g.* 4-Cl-IAA, 1-naphtalacetic acid (NAA) and 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D), and these compounds are also referred to as auxins (reviewed in Woodward and Bartel, 2005; Taiz and Zeiger, 2006).

Auxin has a differential distribution between cells, creating auxin concentration maxima and gradients, important for its role in developmental regulation (reviewed in Bhalerao and Bennett, 2003; Tanaka et al., 2006; Vanneste and Friml, 2009; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010). Auxin homeostasis and distribution are therefore strictly controlled through regulation of biosynthesis, inactivation and transport. Another level of

control is the regulation of auxin responses (reviewed in Lau et al., 2008; Kieffer et al., 2010; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010).

1.2.1 Biosynthesis

IAA biosynthesis in plants is complex, with several pathways contributing to the production of IAA, and there are still many gaps in our knowledge about this complicated process (reviewed in Woodward and Bartel, 2005; Chandler, 2009; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010; Normanly, 2010; Zhao, 2010). Plants use both tryptophan (Trp)-dependent and Trpindependent pathways for IAA synthesis, although the Trp-independent pathway remains, in large, uncharacterized. In the Trp-dependent IAA biosynthesis, four different pathways have been proposed based on experimental evidence (see fig 1): the indole-3-pyruvic acid (IPA) pathway, the indole-3-acetaldoxime (IAOx) pathway, the indole-3-acetamine (IAM) pathway and the tryptamine (TAM) pathway.

In the suggested IPA pathway, Trp is converted to IPA and then further modified to indole-3-acetaldehyde (IAAId) and IAA (reviewed in Woodward and Bartel, 2005; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010). In Arabidopsis the aminotransferase TRYPTOPHAN AMINO-TRANSFERASE of ARABIDOPSIS1 (TAA1) has been shown to convert Trp to IPA in vitro, and taa1 mutants have reduced levels of free IAA (Stepanova et al., 2008; Tao et al., 2008). TAA1 belongs to a gene family with the four additional members TRYPTOPHAN AMINO-TRANSFERASE RELATED1 to 4 (TAR1 to 4). tar1 and tar2 mutants enhance the taa1 phenotype and triple mutants show several auxin related phenotypes (Stepanova et al., 2008). The steps from IPA to IAA have so far been characterized in microorganisms, but not in plants (reviewed in Normanly, 2010; Zhao, 2010).

In the IAOx pathway, Trp is converted to IAOx and then via other intermediates to IAA, or to glucosinolates (reviewed in Zhao, 2010). The *Arabidopsis* enzymes CYP79B2 and CYP79B3 can convert Trp to IAOx and IAA levels are elevated in CYP79B2 overexpressors, while they are reduced in *cyp79b2 cyp79b3* double mutant plants (Hull et al., 2000; Zhao et al., 2002). Further evidence for the involvement of IAOx in IAA biosynthesis comes from studies of the glucosinolate biosynthesis genes *SUPERROOT1* (*SUR1*) and *SUR2*, where *sur1* and *sur2* mutants have elevated IAA levels, probably resulting from more IAOx available for IAA synthesis (Boerjan et al., 1995; Delarue et al., 1998; reviewed in Zhao, 2010). It is not clear how IAOx is converted to IAA but biochemical analyses have suggested both indole-3-acetonitrile (IAN) and IAM as intermediates (Sugawara et al.,

2009). Trp-converting cytochrome P450 monooxygenases have only been isolated from *Arabidopsis* and IAOx have been found in *Arabidopsis* but not in other tested species like tobacco and maize, suggesting that the IAOx pathway is not widespread among plants (Sugawara et al., 2009; reviewed in Normanly, 2010).

The IAM pathway is used by several plant pathogens to produce IAA from Trp in two steps with IAM as an intermediate (reviewed in Spaepen and Vanderleyden, 2010). IAM exist also in aseptically grown plants and two amidases, AMIDASE1 (AMI1) and NtAMI1, that can convert IAM to IAA have been characterized in *Arabidopsis* and tobacco, respectively, suggesting that an IAM pathway exists also in plants (Pollmann et al., 2006; Nemoto et al., 2009; Sugawara et al., 2009; reviewed in Lehmann et al., 2010). How IAM is formed in plants is not clear. IAM can be formed from IAOx in *Arabidopsis*, but since IAM is found also in plants that probably lack the IAOx pathway, this is most likely not the only pathway leading to IAM.

In the TAM pathway Trp is converted to TAM, which is converted to N-hydroxyl-TAM, and then to IAA via additional intermediates (reviewed in Woodward and Bartel, 2005; Lehmann et al., 2010; Normanly, 2010; Zhao, 2010). Trp decarboxylases catalyzing the first step from Trp to TAM have been found in several plant species, but not yet in Arabidopsis (Kang et al., 2007). In the second step, a flavin monooxygenase-like (FMO) enzyme, YUCCA1 (YUC1), suggested to convert TAM to N-hydroxyl-TAM, has been characterized from Arabidopsis (Zhao et al., 2001). Overexpression of YUC1 results in elevated IAA levels, suggesting that it catalyzes a ratelimiting step in IAA biosynthesis. YUC1 belongs to a family of 11 members in Arabidopsis and overexpression of other YUC genes result in auxin overproduction phenotypes as well (Cheng et al., 2006; Hentrich, 2010). YUC family multiple mutants show developmental defects and reduced auxin response reporter expression (Cheng et al., 2006; Cheng et al., 2007). This together suggests that several of the YUC genes are involved in auxin biosynthesis. The role of YUC members in the conversion of TAM to Nhydroxyl-TAM has, however, been questioned and they could possibly catalyze another step in Trp-dependent auxin biosynthesis (Tivendale et al., 2010; Nonhebel et al., 2011; Philips et al., 2011). It is not clear how IAA is formed from N-hydroxyl-TAM. IAOx and IAAld have been suggested as intermediates, but biochemical analyses on wild type and YUC family mutant plants have not found IAOx to be a likely intermediate in this pathway (Sugawara et al., 2009).



Figure 1. Proposed IAA biosynthesis pathways in *Arabidopsis.* Abbreviations: AMI, AMIDASE; CYP, CYTOCHROME P450; IAA, Indole-3-acetic acid; IAAld, Indole-3-acetaldehyde; IAM, Indoleacetamide; IAN, Indole-3-acetonitrile; IAOx, Indole-3-acetaldoxime; IPA, Indole-3-pyruvic acid; NIT, NITRILASE; TAA, TRYPTOPHAN AMINOTRANSFERASE OF ARABIDOPSIS; TAM, Tryptamine; TAR, TAA1 RELATED; Trp, Tryptophan. Adapted from Lehmann et al., 2010; Normanly, 2010; Zhao, 2010.

Most plant tissues seem to be able to produce auxin, but the auxin synthesis rate varies between different parts of the plant (Ljung et al., 2001; Ljung et al., 2005; reviewed in Normanly, 2010; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010). Young leaves, cotyledons and root tips have relatively high IAA synthesis rates (Ljung et al., 2001; Ljung et al., 2005). Auxin biosynthesis genes have different expression patterns and the expression is usually restricted to a small group of cells and changes during development (Cheng et al., 2006; Tao et al., 2008; Hentrich, 2010; reviewed in Zhao, 2008; Zhao, 2010). Auxin biosynthesis thus seem to be regulated both temporally

and spatially. The expression patterns of auxin biosynthesis genes often correlate with auxin response reporter expression and inactivation of e.g. YUC1 and YUC4 results in a decrease in auxin response reporter expression levels specifically in the tissues where these YUC genes are expressed, suggesting that local auxin biosynthesis is important for the distribution of auxin and the generation of local auxin maxima/responses (Cheng et al., 2006; Cheng et al., 2007; Stepanova et al., 2008; Tao et al., 2008; reviewed in Zhao, 2008; Chandler, 2009; Zhao, 2010). Inactivation of different auxin biosynthesis genes also leads to different phenotypes and the phenotypes often correlate with the expression patterns of these genes, suggesting that local auxin biosynthesis is important for plant development (Cheng et al., 2006; Cheng et al., 2007; Stepanova et al., 2008; Tao et al., 2008). Further support for the importance of local auxin biosynthesis comes from experiments showing that the yuc1 yuc4 phenotype can be rescued by expression of the bacterial auxin biosynthesis gene iaaM under the control of the YUC1 promoter, but not the YUC6 promoter, and not by exogenous auxin application (Cheng et al., 2006). Hence, loss of certain auxin biosynthesis genes with specific expression patterns cannot be compensated for by transport of auxin from other parts of the plant.

The transcription factors STYLISH1 (STY1), LEAFY COTYLEDON2 (LEC2), REVEILLE1 (RVE1), SPOROCYTELESS (SPL) and the NGATHA (NGA) family have been shown to affect the expression levels of different YUC genes and LEC2 also binds to the YUC4 promoter (Sohlberg et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008; Stone et al., 2008; Rawat et al., 2009; Trigueros et al., 2009). TERMINAL FLOWER2 (TFL2) is another protein that binds to promoters and/or coding regions of YUC genes and affect YUC gene expression (Rizzardi et al., 2010). Besides this not much is known about the transcriptional regulation of auxin biosynthesis genes.

1.2.2 Storage and inactivation

IAA can be stored as indole-3-butyric acid (IBA) or as different IAA conjugates that can be converted back to IAA (reviewed in Woodward and Bartel, 2005; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010). Reversible conjugations include ester-linking to sugars and amide-linking to peptides or amino acids like alanine (Ala) and leucine (Leu). Conjugation to other amino acids, like glutamate (Glu) and aspartate (Asp), cannot be reversed and leads to degradation of IAA. Oxidation to OxIAA is another way to permanently inactivate IAA (reviewed in Woodward and Bartel, 2005; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010). The regulation of these processes plays an important role in the control of IAA levels and auxin itself

participate in the regulation, *e.g.* by inducing *GH3* family members encoding IAA conjugating enzymes.

1.2.3 Transport

Auxin is transported via at least two types of transport, passive long distance transport via the phloem and cell-to-cell polar auxin transport (PAT) (reviewed in Michniewicz et al., 2007; Petrásek and Friml, 2009; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010). The cell-to-cell transport contributes to the main auxin flow from the shoot towards the root apex, via transport in the vascular cambium, and also transports auxin over shorter distances within tissues. The transport of auxin between cells is highly regulated and depends on transporter proteins that can determine the direction of auxin transport via an asymmetrical cellular localization.

Auxin is a weak acid and exists in a hydrophilic anionic form (IAA⁻) or a hydrophobic protonated form (IAAH) depending on the local pH. Only the IAAH form can diffuse through plasma membranes and the difference in pH between the apoplast and the cytosol favours diffusion of IAA into the cell (reviewed in Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann., 2010). In addition to passive diffusion, auxin is also transported actively into cells via influx carriers belonging to the AUXIN RESISTANT1 (AUX1)/LIKE AUX1 (LAX) family (Bennet et al., 1996; Bainbridge et al., 2008; Swarup et al., 2008; reviewed in Petrásek and Friml, 2009). AUX1/LAX transporters are distributed uniformly around the cells in most tissues, but asymmetrical localization has been found in protophloem cells in the root (Swarup et al., 2001; reviewed in Michniewicz et al., 2007).

Efflux carriers are needed to transport auxin out of cells and proteins with auxin-exporting activity have been found in the PINFORMED (PIN) family and in subfamily B of the ATP-binding cassette (ABCB) family, also known as the multidrug resistant (MDR) or P-glycoprotein (PGP) family (reviewed in Zazimilová et al., 2010). There are eight PIN family members in *Arabidopsis* and of these PIN1-4 and 7 are localized to the plasma membrane and probably function in auxin efflux, while PIN5, 6 and 8 are localized to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and have been suggested to regulate intracellular auxin homeostasis (Friml et al., 2002a; Friml et al., 2002b; Petrásek et al., 2006; Mravec et al., 2009; reviewed in Petrásek and Friml, 2009). The plasma membrane localized PINs are often asymmetrically distributed around the cell as expected for PAT efflux carriers (Friml et al., 2002a; Friml et al., 2002b; Wisniewska et al., 2006; reviewed in Michniewicz et al., 2007; Feraru and Friml, 2008). PIN1, 2 and 7 have been shown to perform auxin efflux and also PIN3 and 4 seem to participate in

PAT (Friml et al., 2002a; Friml et al., 2002b; Petrásek et al., 2006; Yang and Murphy, 2009). The different *PIN* genes have different expression patterns and mutant studies have shown that they have both specific and redundant functions, with loss of some *PIN* genes leading to ectopic expression of others (Vieten et al., 2005).

The ABCB family proteins ABCB1/PGP1 and ABCB19/PGP19 have been shown to perform auxin efflux and ABCB4 is suggested to function as either an influx or an efflux transporter depending on the auxin concentration (Yang and Murphy, 2009; reviewed in Zazimilová et al., 2010). ABCB1, 4 and 19 are localized to the plasma membrane, primarily in a nonpolar fashion (Mravec et al., 2008).

PAT is a very important process as suggested by the severe developmental defects that result from disruption of auxin transporter genes and from application of naphthylphthalamic acid (NPA) or other chemical inhibitors of PAT. This transporter-mediated process is regulated at several levels and auxin itself is an important factor in the regulation (reviewed in Petrásek and Friml, 2009). The transcription of both influx and efflux carriers is influenced by auxin as well as other factors, and degradation of PIN proteins is regulated by the MODULATOR OF PIN (MOP) proteins. Some PIN proteins are continuously internalized and recycled back to the cell surface and the internalization is inhibited by auxin, thereby increasing the amount of PIN proteins at the cell surface (Paciorek et al., 2005). The polar localization of PIN proteins affects the direction of auxin transport and can change in response to developmental and environmental signals, thereby redirecting the auxin flow (reviewed in Michniewicz et al., 2007). This localization of PIN proteins at the apical or basal side of the cell is regulated via phosphorylation/dephosphorylation by the serine/threonine protein kinase PINOID (PID) and protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) (Benjamins et al., 2001; Friml et al., 2004; reviewed in Petrásek and Friml, 2009). In turn, PID expression is also regulated by auxin. Since auxin affects PAT in several ways, local auxin biosynthesis, and the resulting local auxin levels, might play an important role in regulating the direction and rate of auxin transport. A combination of both PAT and local auxin biosynthesis is also needed for many developmental processes (reviewed in Zhao, 2008; Chandler, 2009)

1.2.4 Signalling

Auxin induces expression of early auxin response genes via a short pathway involving the nuclear located auxin receptor TRANSPORT INHIBITOR RESPONSE1 (TIR1)/Auxin-Binding F box (AFB) family, the AUX/IAA

transcriptional repressors and the Auxin Response Factor (ARF) family of transcription factors (reviewed in Guilfoyle and Hagen, 2007; Vanneste and Friml, 2009; Kieffer et al., 2010; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010). There are 23 different ARFs in Arabidopsis and these interact with Auxin Response Elements (AREs) in the promoters of auxin response genes and either activate or repress transcription. The AUX/IAAs are themselves auxin response genes and most of the 29 members in Arabidopsis are upregulated by auxin. AUX/IAAs interact with activating ARFs and repress transcription of auxin response genes, e.g. by recruitment of the transcriptional co-repressor TOPLESS (TPL). The auxin receptor TIR1, and the related AFB proteins, are components of the Skp1-cullin-F box protein (SCF) E3 ubiquitin ligase complexes that catalyze ubiquitination of Aux/IAAs, thereby targeting them for degradation (Dharmasiri et al., 2005). When auxin binds the TIR/AFBs, the interaction between TIR/AFBs and AUX/IAAs is stabilized and the AUX/IAAs get ubiquitinated and degraded (Dharmasiri et al., 2005). Via this mechanism, an increased auxin concentration leads to degradation of AUX/IAAs, resulting in de-repression of activating ARFs and transcription of auxin response genes. The auxininduced up-regulation of AUX/IAA and GH3 transcription is important for the transient nature of auxin responses.

Different auxin response genes carry out different auxin responses and the regulation of which auxin response genes that are induced in a certain tissue at a certain time point plays an important role in auxin regulated development. Both ARFs and AUX/IAAs can form homo- and heterodimers and it has been suggested that the ARF and AUX/IAA pairs have specific target genes (reviewed in Vanneste and Friml, 2009). The response to auxin in a certain tissue is suggested to be determined by the production of a specific set of ARFs and AUX/IAAs, forming certain combinations and thereby inducing certain target genes. Different coactivators and co-repressors could also participate in the regulation of auxin responses (reviewed in Lau et al., 2008).

There seem to be other, TIR1 independent, auxin signaling pathways as well and these could be involved in *e.g.* rapid cellular auxin responses that probably are not mediated via transcription (reviewed in Vanneste and Friml, 2009; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010). The plasma membrane and ER located AUXIN-BINDING PROTEIN1 (ABP1) function as an auxin receptor and affects cell expansion and cell division (Braun et al., 2008). The phospatase INDOLE 3-BUTYRIC ACID RESPONSE 5 (IBR5) is another protein that promotes auxin responses in a potentially TIR1 independent pathway (Strader et al., 2008).

1.3 Plant development

Plants have a sessile lifestyle and have to adapt to the local environment where they grow. In contrast to animals that establish their adult body plan during embryogenesis, plants continue to develop new organs throughout their lifetime. During embryogenesis a plant embryo develops shoot- and root apical meristems and from these meristems new organs are formed during vegetative and reproductive development. Post germination, during the vegetative phase, leaves are formed above ground, and at a certain time point there is a switch to the reproductive phase when also flowers are formed (reviewed in Simpson et al., 1999; Taiz and Zeiger, 2006).

1.3.1 Phase transitions

The vegetative phase is divided into a juvenile phase and an adult phase, that in *Arabidopsis* and many other plants are characterized by different leaf morphologies, and it is only after the transition to the adult phase that the plant is competent to respond to signals promoting flowering (reviewed in Möller-Steinbach et al., 2010).

In *Arabidopsis*, the transition to flowering is regulated by four major pathways: autonomous, photoperiod, vernalization and gibberellin (GA) pathways (reviewed in Komeda, 2004; Taiz and Zeiger, 2006; Michaels, 2009; Möller-Steinbach et al., 2010). The input from all these pathways converge in the regulation of *SUPPRESSOR OF OVEREXPRESSION OF CONSTANS 1* (SOC1) and other floral integrators that, in turn regulate genes necessary for producing flowers.

The photoperiod pathway regulates the response to day length and *Arabidopsis*, which is a facultative long day plant, flowers earlier when grown in long day conditions (reviewed in Möller-Steinbach et al., 2010). Some *Arabidopsis* accessions also require a cold period, vernalization, to flower, but this is not the case for common laboratory accessions like Col and Ler (reviewed in Michaels, 2009; Möller-Steinbach et al., 2010). The autonomous pathway regulates flowering in response to internal signals and in the GA pathway, required for flowering in non-inductive short day conditions, flowering is induced by the plant hormone GA (Taiz and Zeiger, 2006).

1.3.2 Organ development

The stem and aerial lateral organs, like leaves and floral organs, are formed from the shoot apical meristem (SAM) and the root system is formed from the root apical meristem (RAM). These meristems contain pluripotent stem cells and to function properly, a balance between maintaining the apical meristem cells and forming organs and axillary meristems, must exist (reviewed in Shani et al., 2006; Wang and Li, 2008; Wolters and Jürgens, 2009; Bohn-Corseau, 2010). Several transcription factors and hormones participate and interact in regulating this balance. A negative feedback loop between CLAVATA3 (CLV3) and the transcription factor WUSHEL (WUS) is important for maintenance of the SAM and additional transcription factors, such as SHOOTMERISTEMLESS (STM), CUP-SHAPED COTYLEDONE1 to 3 (CUC1 to 3), AINTEGUMENTA (ANT) and LEAFY (LFY) participate in regulating SAM and organ identity as well. Among the hormones, cytokinins are important for maintenance of the SAM and auxin for initiation of organ primordia, but also GA and ethylene affect SAM function and the interactions between the different hormones are rather complex.

Organ initiation

The SAM is composed of several layers and zones (reviewed in Barton, 2010; Bohn-Corseau, 2010; Vernoux et al., 2010). Cells in the layers L1 to L3 generate different tissues, and lateral organs are formed from cells in the L3 layer. The three zones, central, peripheral and rib zone, also have different functions. The central zone maintains the meristem and supplies the other zones with new cells, the rib zone forms the internal tissues of the stem, and the peripheral zone initiate lateral organs. When organ initiation takes place, a group of cells in the peripheral zone is selected to increase the rate of proliferation and growth to form a primordium, followed by morphogenesis into an organ.

An important regulator of organ initiation is auxin, with auxin concentration maxima and gradients determining where new organs are initiated (reviewed in Bohn-Corseau, 2010; Krupinski and Jönsson, 2010; Vernoux et al., 2010). Several studies and computer simulations support a model where PIN1 directs auxin fluxes towards the sites of organ initiation. This produces sites of auxin maxima, leading to organ initiation, and depletion of auxin from the surrounding cells, preventing new organ initiation nearby the newly formed primordia. In addition to polar auxin transport, local auxin biosynthesis is also suggested to be important for formation of the auxin maxima at organ initiation sites. Another level of control is the competences of different cells to respond to auxin with organ initiation.

Following the formation of an auxin maximum, meristem identity factors like STM are down-regulated at the organ initiation site and instead, transcription factors involved in organ outgrowth and identity, such as ANT

and LFY, are expressed (reviewed in Bohn-Corseau, 2010; Vernoux et al., 2010).

Leaf development

Leaves are lateral organs specialized for light absorption, gas exchange and sugar synthesis. Leaves can be either simple, with a single blade, or compound, with several leaflets, and the leaf margins can be smooth, lobed or serrated (Reviewed in Efroni et al., 2010). The *Arabidopsis* leaf is a simple leaf with serrated margins and the extent of serration varies during different developmental stages and between different accessions (Tsukaya and Uchimiya, 1997; Perez-Perez et al., 2002). The rosette leaves of *Arabidopsis* have a bladeless part called the petiole that connects the leaf blade with the stem, whereas cauline leaves lack the petiole (Tsukaya, 2002). Leaves have three axes of asymmetry (see fig 2), a proximal-distal axis going from the base to the tip, a medio-lateral axis going breadthwise across the leaf blade and an adaxial-abaxial axis going from the upper to the lower surface of the leaf (Taiz and Zeiger, 2006).



Figure 2. Arabidopsis rosette leaf with arrows showing the three asymmetry axes.

During leaf development a small peg-like primordium is formed and the three axis of asymmetry are established (Reviewed in Braybrook and Kuhlemeier, 2010; Efroni et al., 2010; Scarpella et al., 2010). The adaxial and abaxial domains are determined by transcription factors that promote adaxial or abaxial identity, and small RNAs that participate in regulating the expression patterns of the adaxial- and abaxial identity factors. The class III HOMEODOMAIN-LEUCINE ZIPPER (HD-ZIP III) transcription factors PHABULOSA (PHB), REVOLUTA (REV) and PHAVOLUTA (PHV) and ASYMMETRIC LEAVES 1 and 2 (AS1 and 2) promote adaxial fate whereas KANADI (KAN) family members, auxin response factors ARF3 and ARF4, and YABBY family members promote abaxial fate (Eshed et al., 2004; Pekker at al., 2005; Fu et al., 2007). The adaxial identity

factors, together with small RNAs, repress the abaxial identity factors and vice versa. The set up of these two domains is possibly regulated by a mobile signal derived from the meristem (Reinhardt et al., 2005). The identity of this signal is unknown but lipids/sterols and small RNAs have been suggested as candidates (McConnell et al., 2001; Garcia et al., 2006). Auxin has been suggested as an abaxial signal, and an abaxial-adaxial auxin gradient across the leaf primordium has been proposed (Reinhardt et al., 2003; Pekker et al., 2005). Less is known about regulation of proximal-distal and medio-lateral asymmetry but the genes *BLADE-ON-PETIOLE1* and *2* (*BOP1* and *2*) and *AS1* and *2* have been shown to affect proximo-distal patterning, and a distal-proximal auxin gradient has been suggested to exist (Byrne et al., 2000; Benkova et al., 2003; Hepworth et al., 2005; Jun et al., 2010).

When the asymmetry axes have been established, the primordium elongates and the distal part starts expanding to form a leaf blade (Reviewed in Efroni et al., 2010). Expansion of the leaf blade first occurs through cell divisions that take place throughout the blade and gradually cease starting from the distal tip of the leaf (Donnely et al., 1999). When the cell divisions cease, expansion of the leaf blade continues through cell expansion. In most leaves maturation starts from the distal part and involves morphological changes of cells to form e.g. trichomes, vascular cells and guard cells.

The young developing leaves soon start to produce auxin and a peak of auxin response is first seen in the apical tip (Ljung et al., 2001, Aloni et al., 2003; reviewed in Scarpella et al., 2010). Later, high auxin response is detected in the hydathodes in the tips of the teeth that form the serrated margins and in the midvein. Formation of the serrations seem to be regulated by auxin and *CUC* genes and auxin is also regulating vein development (Hay et al., 2006; Nicovics et al., 2006).

Floral organ initiation

After the transition to flowering, the *Arabidopsis* SAM is transformed into a primary inflorescence meristem (IM) that, instead of rosette leaves, produces cauline leaves, secondary inflorescence meristems and floral meristems (reviewed in Wang and Li, 2008; Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2011; Sun and Ito, 2010). The floral meristems are initiated on the flanks of the IM and generate cells that form floral organ primordia in four concentric whorls, with sepals in the outermost whorl, followed by petals, stamens and carpels (see fig 3). The first floral organ primordia to arise are the two lateral sepal primordia and somewhat later the two faster growing medial sepal primordia. After that the four petal primordia and the four medial (long)

stamen primordia are formed. The two lateral stamen primordia appear later and somewhat outside the medial stamen primordia and the last primordia to arise are the carpel primordia.

Formation of floral meristems requires upregulation of floral meristem identity genes like LFY and APETALA1 (AP1) and repression of IM genes like TERMINAL FLOWER1 (TFL1) and EMBRYONIC FLOWER 1 and 2 (EMF1 and 2) (Blazquez et al., 1997; Liljegren et al., 1999; reviewed in Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2011; Sun and Ito, 2010). Like in the SAM, the floral meristem is maintained through a WUS-CLV negative feedback loop, but in the floral meristems WUS is only expressed until all floral organ primordia are initiated and the stem cells no longer are needed. The WUS expression domain and the timing of repression of WUS expression is important for formation of the right number of floral organs and defective regulation can result in flowers with to few or to many floral organs (Laux et al., 1996; Fletcher et al., 1999). AGAMOUS (AG), induced by WUS and LFY, represses WUS expression via induction of KNUCKLES (KNU) (Lenhard et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2009). Other genes that participate in the regulation of floral meristems are ULTRAPETALA1 (ULT1),PERIANTHIA (PAN), SUPERMAN (SUP) and CRABS CLAW (CRC).

The initiation of the right type of floral organs at the right place requires activation of different combinations of floral organ identity genes in the four whorls (reviewed in Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2011; Irish, 2010). According to the ABC model, these floral organ identity genes are the A genes AP1 and AP2, the B genes AP3 and PISTILLATA (PI), the C gene AG, and the four SEPALLATA genes (SEP1-4) (Bowman et al., 1991; Ditta et al., 2004; reviewed in Coen and Meyerowitz, 1991). A function specifies sepal identity, A and B function together specify petal identity, B and C function together specify stamen identity, and C function specifies carpel identity (Bowman et al., 1991). The SEP genes are required together with the ABC genes to specify floral organ identity (Ditta et al., 2004). The expression and/or functional domains of the floral organ identity genes are regulated by the floral meristem identity genes, other floral organ identity genes, a microRNA and genes like WUS and UNUSUAL FLORAL ORGANS (UFO) (Bowman et al., 1991; Lee et al., 1997; Chen, 2004; Sundström et al., 2006). The floral organ identity genes regulate expression of genes required for floral organ initiation and development, e.g. transcription factors and genes involved in homeostasis and response to auxin and other hormones (reviewed in Sablowski, 2010).

Within the *Arabidopsis* flower a medio-lateral asymmetry exists, with *e.g.* medial and lateral stamen primordia appearing at different time-points. One

gene involved in the medio-lateral patterning of the flower is the WUSrelated homeobox (WOX) gene PRESSED FLOWER1 (PRS1), that is expressed in lateral domains and affect initiation of lateral sepal and stamen primordia (Matsumoto and Okada, 2001; Shimizu et al., 2009).

The positioning of floral organs within each whorl has been suggested to depend on auxin (reviewed in Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2011). Both leaf and floral primordia are initiated at sites with auxin maxima, and auxin response maxima are found in floral organ primordia (Benková et al., 2003). Furthermore, defects in auxin transport, synthesis or response result in altered floral organ number and/or fused floral organs (Sessions et al., 1997; Tobena-Santamaria et al., 2002; Benková et al., 2003; Cheng at al., 2006). The boundaries between primordia are specified by expression of CUC1-3 and other boundary genes, leading to repression of growth (Takada et al., 2001; Vroemen et al., 2003; Borghi et al., 2007). The boundary genes affect *e.g.* auxin transport and expression of meristem specific genes.



Figure 3. Schematic drawing of a floral meristem. Adapted from Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2011.

Gynoecium development

Carpels are the female reproductive organs of flowering plants and they are located in the innermost whorl of the flower. The carpels enclose the ovules and after fertilisation they form fruits that protect the developing seeds. The carpels of a flower can be either fused or unfused and together make up the gynoecium. In *Arabidopsis* the gynoecium is composed of two fused carpels (reviewed in Roeder and Yanofsky, 2005; Ferrandiz et al, 1999).

Going from the apical to the basal end the gynoecium is divided into stigma, style, ovary and gynophore (see fig 4A). The stigma consists of a layer of cells with stigmatic papillae and this is where pollen grains are captured and germinate. The style connects the stigma with the ovary and consists of a short solid cylinder surrounding transmitting tract cells. The ovary contains the ovules that after fertilization develop into seeds. Two valves (carpels) make up the walls of the ovary that is divided in the medial plane into two chambers by the internal septum and the outer replum (see



fig 4B). Between the valve and replum are the valve margins. The ovary also contains a transmitting tract, where the pollen tubes grow, and placental tissue from which the ovules form. The gynophore is a short stalk that connects the ovary with the base of the flower.

Along the medio-lateral axis the valves form the lateral domain and the placenta, septum, replum, style and stigma form the medial domain. Along the abaxial-adaxial axis the abaxial domain corresponds to the outer parts such as replum and outer valve epidermis, and the adaxial domain corresponds to placenta, ovules, septum and other inner parts.



Figure 4. Arabidopsis gynoecium. (A) Scanning electron micrograph of a developing *Arabidopsis* gynoecium. (B) Schematic drawing of a cross section through the ovary.

When the gynoecial primordium first appears the two carpels are already fused and the primordium elongates to form a hollow cylinder (reviewed in Roeder and Yanofsky, 2005; Ferrandiz at al., 1999). The developing gynoecium continues to increase in size and the septum and placentae starts to form from the inner medial surfaces. The apical end of the gynoecium closes, stigma and style start to develop, and the medial ridges forming the septum meet and fuse. The gynoecium continues to grow, the cells of the valve margin and replum differentiate and the transmitting tract forms. During the development of the gynoecium, the ovules and vascular bundles also form. At anthesis the gynecium is mature and ready for fertilization of the ovules by released pollen. Subsequently the gynoecium develops into a fruit called silique.

Carpels and other floral organs have likely evolved from modified leaves and the development of all lateral organs is variants of a basic leaf



developmental ground plan (reviewed in Scutt et al., 2006). Carpel identity is specified by the MADS box transcription factors AG and the redundantly working SEP1-3 (reviewed in Balanzá et al., 2006; Roeder and Yanofsky, 2005). The transcription factors SHATTERPROOF1 (SHP1) and SHP2, SPATULA (SPT) and CRC are also involved in specifying carpel identity.

When carpel identity has been specified the gynoecial primordium is divided into different domains along the three asymmetry axes (reviewed in Balanzá et al., 2006; Østergaard, 2009). There are many similarities between the adaxial-abaxial patterning in leaves and gynoecia, and the leaf adaxial faxtors PHB, REV and PHV and abaxial factors KAN, ARF3 and 4 and the YABBY members FILAMENTOUS FLOWER (FIL) and YAB3 also specify adaxial and abaxial fate respectively, in the gynoecium. Additional transcription factors suggested to be involved in adaxial-abaxial patterning in the gynoecium are the potential adaxial factors JAGGED (JAG) and NUBBIN (NUB) and the potential abaxial factor, and YABBY family member, CRC.

Along the medio-lateral axis a medial domain with the meristematic medial ridge, and a lateral domain that will differentiate into valves, form (reviewed in Balanzá et al., 2006). This division is reflected by the expression of genes involved in SAM-maintenance, like the KNOX genes STM and KNOTTED-LIKE FROM ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA1 (KNAT1) and KNAT2, and CUC genes, in the medial domain, and the expression of genes that repress meristem formation, like FIL, YAB3, JAG, NUB and AS1 and 2, in the lateral domain (Ori et al., 2000; Dinneny et al., 2005; Alonso-Cantabrana et al., 2007). Auxin seems to play a part in the medio-lateral patterning since disrupted auxin biosynthesis or transport result in altered distribution of medial and lateral tissues (Bennett at al., 1995; Nemhauser at el., 2000; Cheng et al., 2006; Nole-Wilson et al., 2010).

Auxin is involved also in the apical-basal patterning. Based on the phenotypes resulting from chemical or genetic disruption of PAT, or defective auxin response, an apical-basal auxin gradient has been suggested to span the gynoecium, with high levels specifying the style and stigma, medium levels specifying valves and low levels specifying the gynophore (Nemhauser et al., 2000). In this model auxin biosynthesis in apical parts together with PAT creates an auxin gradient and disrupted PAT results in a steeper gradient and a shift in the boundaries between different tissues along the apical-basal axis. ARF3 has been suggested to control the style-valve boundary by responding to medium auxin levels and repressing the activity of SPT, which promote stigma and style development, and KNUCKLES

(KNU) has been suggested to control the valve-gynophore boundary (Alvarez and Smyth, 1999; Nemhauser et al., 2000; Heisler et al., 2001; Payne et al., 2004). The expression patterns of auxin biosynthesis genes and auxin response reporters support an apical auxin maximum in the gynoecium (Aloni et al., 2003; Benkova et al., 2003; Cheng at al., 2006), but no other direct evidence of the existence of an auxin gradient has been presented. A basal cytokinin maximum together with an apical auxin maximum has also been suggested as a possible alternative model for the apical-basal patterning (reviewed in Østergaard, 2009).

Many genes required for regulation of tissue development in the gynoecium have been identified. ANT, CRC, LEUNIG (LUG), SEUSS (SEU), SPT, FIL, SHORT INTERNODES (SHI)/STY, NGA, HECATE (HEC), and SHP are examples of genes involved in development of style/stigma and/or other medial tissues (Alvarez and Smyth, 1999; Franks et al., 2002; Kuusk et al., 2006; Gremski et al., 2007; Alvarez et al., 2009; Trigueros et al., 2009; Colombo et al., 2010; reviewed in Balanzá et al., 2006; Roeder and Yanofsky, 2005), while FRUITFUL (FUL), SHP, ALCATRAZ (ALC) and INDEHISCENT (IND) are examples of genes involved in development of the lateral tissues, valves and valve margins (reviewed in Dinneny and Yanofsky, 2005).

Stamen development

In the *Arabidopsis* flower four medial (long) stamens and two lateral (short) stamens are found in the third whorl. Stamens are the male reproductive organs and consist of an apical anther and a basal filament. The anther develops four lobes, each containing a locule where pollen are produced and later released (Sanders et al., 1999). The filament is a stalk-like structure that contains vascular tissues and supplies water and nutrients to the anther (reviewed in Scott et al., 2004; Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2011). Regulated elongation of the filament is important for correct positioning of the anther.

Early in stamen development, the primordia are partitioned into two regions that develop into the anther and the filament, respectively (reviewed in Scott et al., 2004). Anther development is divided into two phases and during the first phase the connective and vascular tissues are formed and locules surrounded by tapetum layer, middle layer and endothecium, develop (Sanders et al., 1999; reviewed in Scott et al., 2004; Sundberg and Østergaard, 2009). Within the locules, pollen mother cells undergo meiosis and generate tetrads of haploid microspores enclosed by a callose wall. During the second phase the callose wall is degraded and the microspores are released from the tetrads and develop into pollen grains. The filament elongates and pollen is released from the anther through dehiscence. After pollen release, the filaments continue to elongate, allowing the anthers of the long stamens to reach the stigma where the pollen grains germinate (Tashiro et al., 2009).

Many different transcription factors have been found to affect stamen development, e.g. SPL, DYSFUNCTIONAL TAPETUM1 (DYT1), JAG and NUB (Yang et al., 1999; Dinneny et al., 2006; reviewed in Scott et al., 2004; Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2011). The hormones gibberelic acid (GA), jasmonic acid (JA) and auxin have also been shown to be involved in stamen development (Sanders et al., 2000; Cheng et al., 2004; Nagpal et al., 2005; Cecchetti et al., 2008; Cheng et al., 2009; reviewed in Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2011). Both GA and JA affect pollen production and filament elongation, and JA has also been shown to be involved in anther dehiscence. The auxin biosynthesis genes YUC2 and YUC6 are expressed in tissues in the anthers from an early developmental stage and are later also expressed in the filaments (Cheng et al., 2006; Cecchetti et al., 2008). The DR5 auxin response reporter has a similar expression pattern in the stamens but at a somewhat later stage (Feng et al., 2006; Cecchetti et al., 2008). Defects in auxin biosynthesis, transport or perception affect stamen development and suggest that auxin is involved in processes like pollen production, anther dehiscence and filament elongation (Feng et al., 2006; Cheng et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2006; Cecchetti et al., 2008). It has been suggested that early anther development mainly depends on local auxin biosynthesis, whereas filament elongation depends on both auxin biosynthesis and PAT (Cecchetti et al., 2008).

Root development

The root system is specialized for growing through the soil and absorbing water and minerals. In *Arabidopsis*, and other dicots, it consists of a primary root that is formed from the root apical meristem (RAM), located at the root tip, and lateral roots that are formed from primordia initiated along the primary root. An *Arabidopsis* root consists of four concentric cell layers along the radial axis: the outer epidermis, followed by cortex, endodermis, and the central stele containing the vascular tissue and pericycle (reviewed in Ueda et al., 2005). In the apical-basal direction, the root tip can be divided into four developmental zones: the root cap, the meristematic zone, the elongation zone and the maturation zone (Taiz and Zeiger, 2006). The root cap protects the RAM that is located in the meristematic zone and produces cells for root growth. In the elongation zone the newly formed cells elongate, contributing to root elongation, and in the maturation zone the

cells differentiate into different cell types, *e.g.* the root hair cells specialized for water and nutrient absorbtion. The RAM consists of the quiescent center (QC), with low mitotic activity, surrounded by mitotically active initials for the different cell types (reviewed in Scheres et al., 2002). Lateral root primordia are formed from pericycle cells and after the first stages the lateral root acquires a cellular organization similar to the primary root (reviewed in Scheres et al., 2002; Péret et al., 2009).

Auxin is important for root development and both transport from the shoot and synthesis in the root, mainly at the root tip, contributes to the pool of auxin in the root (Ljung et al., 2001; Ljung et al., 2005; reviewed in Taiz and Zeiger, 2006; Overvoorde et al., 2010; Tromas and Perrot-Rechenmann, 2010). At the root tip auxin is transported in the apical direction in the stele toward the QC and in the epidermis auxin is instead transported in the basal direction toward the end of the meristematic zone, where it is recycled to the stele. An auxin maximum is formed in the QC, important for its formation and function. Proper auxin levels is also important for root elongation, with low levels stimulating and high levels inhibiting root growth. Other processes dependent on auxin is *e.g.* lateral root formation and gravitropism.

1.4 Transcriptional regulation

Many biological processes, including organ development, are largely regulated at the transcriptional level. Together with translational regulation, as well as transport and stability of mRNA and protein, transcriptional regulation controls protein levels. Defects in this regulation often have profound effects on plant shape and function.

DNA is normally coiled around histone octamers and packed into chromatin, blocking the RNA polymerase and other members of the basic transcription machinery from binding the promoter of a specific gene and initiate transcription (reviewed in Kornberg, 1999; Riechmann, 2002). Gene transcription can be activated by transcription factors recognizing regulatory sequences in the promoter and recruiting factors that reorganize the local chromatin structure and acetylates histones. This allows additional transcription factors to bind the promoter and activate transcription by interacting with cofactors and the basic transcription machinery, leading to binding of the RNA polymerase complex to the transcription initiation site.

For proper functioning, the transcription of a gene also has to cease at the right time-point. One way to stop the transcription is targeted destruction of transcription factors (reviewed in Riechmann, 2002). Some transcription

factors also function as repressors and inhibit transcription instead of activating it, *e.g.* by recruiting histone deacetylases or competing with an activating transcription factor for binding to a regulatory sequence (reviewed in Kornberg, 1999; Liu et al., 1999).

The transcription of a gene is usually regulated by a combination of several transcription factors, each binding to a specific regulatory element in the promoter, and most transcription factors have several target genes (reviewed in Priest et al., 2009; Riechmann, 2002). There are also different cofactors and coactivators that bind to the transcription factors (reviewed in Näär et al., 2001; Riechmann, 2002). Cofactors affect the DNA-binding of the transcription factor or the interaction with the basic transcription machinery, and coactivator complexes interact with the RNA polymerase or different types of activators.

1.4.1 Transcription factors

Transcription factors can be defined as proteins that show sequence-specific DNA binding and can activate or repress transcription (reviewed in Riechmann, 2002). Most plant transcription factors contain a DNA-binding domain, an oligomerization site, a transcription regulation domain and a nuclear localization domain (reviewed in Liu et al., 1999).

DNA binding domains contain amino acids that determine the specificity of the transcription factor by binding to DNA bases at a specific cisregulatory element and these amino acids are usually highly conserved (reviewed in Liu et al., 1999; Riechmann, 2002). Other amino acids make nonspecific contacts with DNA and enhance the binding of the transcription factor. The DNA-binding domain is often used to group a transcription factor into a transcription factor family. One example of a DNA binding domain is the zinc finger domain of transcription factors in the zinc finger family that is characterized by one or several finger motifs maintained by cysteine and/or histidine residues that are organized around a zinc ion.

Oligomerization domains are used by many transcription factors to form homo- or hetero-oligomers and this can affect DNA-binding or nuclear localization (reviewed in Liu et al., 1999).

Transcription regulation domains can either activate or inhibit the transcription of target genes and the transcription factors containing these domains are called activators or repressors, respectively (reviewed in Liu et al., 1999). Some transcription factors can act as both activators and repressors (reviewed in Finkelstein et al., 2002; Suzuki and McCarty, 2008).

Activation domains have been shown to be enriched in the amino acids proline (Pro) or glutamine (Gln).

Nuclear localization domains, important for the active translocation into the nucleus, are enriched in the basic amino acids arginine (Arg) and lysine (Lys) and can occur in one or several copies (reviewed in Liu et al., 1999).

1.4.2 Cis-regulatory elements

Transcription factors bind to specific DNA sequences that in eukaryotes often are 5-10 base pairs (bp) long, and these transcription factor binding sites are called cis-regulatory elements (reviewed in Riechmann, 2002; Priest et al., 2009). The promoter of a gene is mainly located upstream from the transcriptional start site (tss) and contains a proximal part that mediates the assembly of the RNA polymerase, and a distal part that regulates the expression (reviewed in Rombauts et al., 2003). The distal part of the promoter contains the cis-regulatory elements that guide transcription factor binding. It is not defined how far upstream from the tss the distal part ends and cis-regulatory elements can also be found downstream of the transcriptional start site, *e.g.* in introns.

Approaches for identifying cis-regulatory elements

There are several approaches for predicting cis-regulatory elements in the promoter of a gene, for testing of the predicted elements, and to analyze which element a certain transcription factor binds.

One common approach for predicting cis-regulatory elements is to look for motifs that are over-represented in promoters of co-expressed genes identified using *e.g.* microarrays (reviewed in Riechmann, 2002; Rombauts et al., 2003; Priest et al., 2009). This approach is based on the assumption that co-expressed genes are co-regulated and therefore have the same cisregulatory elements. Another similar approach is to look for common motifs in promoters of orthologous genes, assuming that these orthologs have retained the same regulatory motifs, while non-regulatory regions in the promoters are less conserved. Different algorithms are used to search for motifs that occur more often in promoters of co-expressed or orthologous genes than in unrelated sequences. Even when the assumptions these methods are based on are true, the element prediction is complicated by the facts that regulatory elements can be found at different distances, both upstream and downstream from the tss, and that these short motifs also occur randomly in the genome.

The target genes of a transcription factor can possibly be identified by expressing the transcription factor using an inducible system, with and



without the presence of a protein synthesis inhibitor, and studying its effect on global gene expression using microarrays (reviewed in Riechmann, 2002). The identified putative target genes can then be used for prediction of cis-regulatory elements. Other ways of identifying the target genes, and possibly regulatory elements, of a transcription factor include yeast-onehybrid (Y1H) screens and the combination of chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) with microarrays or deep sequencing (reviewed in Riechmann, 2002; Priest et al., 2009). Y1H and ChIP experiments can also be used to test the interaction between a transcription factor and the predicted element. In Y1H experiments and electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA) the interaction of a transcription factor with sequences containing intact and mutated versions of a predicted element can be compared.

1.5 The SHI/STY gene family

The SHI/STY gene family in Arabidopsis consists of nine active members, SHI, STY1, STY2 and SHI-RELATED SEQUENCE 3 to 7 (SRS3 to SRS7) (Kuusk et al., 2006). The tenth member, SRS8, is probably a pseudogene (Kuusk et al., 2006). The active SHI/STY-family members in Arabidopsis are very similar in two highly conserved regions, a RING-like zinc finger (ZnFn) domain and an IGGH-domain that is unique to the SHI/STY-family (Fridborg et al., 2001). The SHI/STY members also contain a putative nuclear localization signal (Eklund et al., 2010). Homologues have been found in several other plant species, including the bryophyte Physcomitrella patens, the lycophyte Selaginella moellandorffii and the angiosperms rice, poplar and tomato, but there appear to be no homologues in photosynthetic algae or in non-plant species (Kuusk et al., 2006; Eklund et al., 2010).

The spatial and temporal expression patterns of STY1, STY2, SHI, and SRS5 have been studied and were found to be largely overlapping, with only small variations between the different genes (Fridborg et al., 2001; Kuusk et al., 2002; Kuusk et al., 2006). As an example, STY1 is expressed in all aerial organs of young seedlings, in the stipules, petioles and hydatodes of developing leaves, in lateral root primordia and root tips. During floral bud formation STY1 is normally expressed already in the youngest floral primordia, in sepal and gynoecium primordia. Later during flower development the expression is found in the style and stigmatic region, ovules, sepals and receptacles.

Mutant studies have shown that at least six of the *SHI/STY*-family genes contribute to carpel fusion and marginal tissue formation in the apical part of the gynoecium (Kuusk et al., 2002; Kuusk et al., 2006). In addition, several of the *SHI/STY* genes appear to be important for proper apical-basal patterning of the gynoecium, vascular formation, as well as for leaf development and organ identity in floral whorls two and three (Kuusk et al., 2002; Kuusk et al., 2006). The SHI/STY members work redundantly and of the studied single mutants, only *sty1-1* and *sty2-1* show aberrant phenotypes (Kuusk et al., 2002; Kuusk et al., 2006). In *sty1-1* plants there is a slight depression in the style and in *sty2-1* plants the leaves are slightly more serrated than in wild type. Both these phenotypes are enhanced in SHI/STY-family multiple mutants.

Induced over-expression of STY1 results in early upregulation of the auxin biosynthesis gene *YUC4*, and the levels of IAA and IAA metabolites are affected by changes in *SHI/STY* gene expression (Sohlberg et al., 2006). *sty1-1* plants are also hypersensitive to chemical and genetic inhibition of PAT in the gynoecium (Sohlberg et al., 2006).

2 Aims of the study

The aim of this work has been to study the role of *SHI/STY*-family genes in the regulation of organ development. The main focus has been on identifying and characterising downstream targets of the SHI/STY-family and examining how these, and the plant hormone auxin, participate in SHI/STY regulated organ development. The STY1 gene was chosen for most studies and among the different plant organs a focus has been on gynoecium development. The upstream regulation of *SHI/STY*-family genes has also been studied.

3 Results and discussion

3.1 SHI/STY-family members are transcriptional activators (II, III)

Previous work shows that the predicted protein sequences of SHI/STYfamily members contain a RING-like zinc finger domain, a region enriched in basic amino acids and one or two Gln-rich regions (Fridborg et al., 1999; Fridborg et al., 2001; Eklund et al., 2010). Zinc finger domains are involved in DNA or protein binding and are common in transcription factors (reviewed in Takatsuji, 1998). The region enriched in basic amino acids resembles a nuclear localization signal and the Gln-rich regions could function as transcriptional activation domains. The sequence composition thus suggests that the SHI/STY-family members could function as transcriptional activators.

3.1.1 SHI/STY-family members are localized to the nucleus

Expression of a STY1-GFP fusion protein in both onion epidermal cells and *P. patens* protoplasts showed that STY1 was localized to the nucleus (II). Also *P. patens* SHI/STY homologues have been shown to have a nuclear localization (Eklund et al., 2010). The dexametasone (DEX)-dependent ability of *35Spro:STY1-GR* to restore the *sty1-1* mutant phenotype further suggests that STY1 is active in the nucleus (Kuusk et al., 2006; Sohlberg et al., 2006). These results show that STY1, and probably also other SHI/STY-family members, are nuclear proteins and thus could function as transcriptional activators.

3.1.2 SHI/STY-family members activate transcription

Using microarray experiments we could show that DEX treatment of 35Spro:STY1-GR sty1-1 sty2-1 plants result in activation of many genes already after one hour (III). qRT-PCR studies have also shown that some

genes were significantly upregulated as early as 30 min after DEX treatment (Sohlberg et al., 2006 and unpublished data). Further experiments revealed that the STY1-GR induced upregulation of several genes was independent of protein translation (II, III). This together indicates that STY1 directly activates transcription of several genes. In agreement with this, the STY1 protein could also activate transcription in yeast assays (II).

Expression of STY1 fused to a repressor domain resulted in plants with phenotypes similar to multiple *SHI/STY*-family mutants (II). These phenotypes probably result from reduced transcription of genes normally activated by SHI/STY-family members and suggest that the function of STY1 is reversed when it is fused to a repressor domain. Taken together these results suggest that STY1 function as a transcriptional activator. The sequence similarities and functional redundancies between STY1 and other SHI/STY-family members (Kuusk et al., 2006) indicate that several of the SHI/STY proteins share this function. In acccordance with this, SHI-GR induction resulted in mostly upregulated gene expression in microarray experiments and many genes were induced by both STY1-GR and SHI-GR (unpublished data).

3.1.3 SHI/STY-family members interact with the YUC4 promoter

Using ChIP experiments, Y1H analyses and EMSA assays we have shown that STY1 interacts with the promoter of the YUC4 gene (II). SHI was used in Y1H analyses as well, and was found to interact with the YUC4 promoter (II). Experiments using mutated YUC4 promoter fragments indicate that the short sequence ACTCTAC, located 173 to 167 bp upstream of a putative TATA box, is needed for efficient interactions with STY1 (II). These results suggest that STY1 activates transcription of YUC4 by binding to the promoter and that ACTCTAC is a putative STY1 binding site. STY1, and probably also other SHI/STY-family members, thus seem to function as DNA-binding transcriptional activators.

3.2 SHI/STY-family members are positive regulators of auxin biosynthesis (I, II, III)

3.2.1 SHI/STY-family members affect auxin biosynthesis rate and auxin levels

DEX-induction of *35Spro:STY1-GR sty1-1 sty2-1* plants resulted in a significantly increased IAA synthesis rate (I). IAA levels were also significantly increased by a DEX-induced nuclear translocation of STY1-GR (Sohlberg et al., 2006), probably as a result of the increased biosynthesis. Disruption of SHI/STY-family function had the opposite effect with *sty1-1*

sty2-1 mutant plants having reduced levels of free IAA compared to wild type plants and *SHI/STY*-family quintuple mutant plants having reduced levels of both free IAA and several IAA metabolites (Sohlberg et al., 2006). SHI/STY-family members thus seem to be positive regulators of auxin biosynthesis and thereby auxin levels.

3.2.2 SHI/STY-family members activate transcription of auxin biosynthesis genes

YUC family members have been suggested to act as rate limiting enzymes in auxin biosynthesis and one of the YUC genes, YUC4, was shown to be induced 30 min after DEX-treatment of 35Spro:STY1-GR sty1-1 sty2-1 plants (Zhao et al., 2001; Cheng et al., 2006; Sohlberg et al., 2006). As discussed above, the STY1-GR induced upregulation of YUC4 transcription is independent of protein translation and STY1 also binds the YUC4 promoter. In accordance with this, the YUC4 transcript level was reduced in sty1-1 sty2-1 mutant plants (Sohlberg et al., 2006) as well as in 35Spro:STY1-SRDX plants (II). One other YUC gene, YUC8, was induced by STY1-GR in the presence of a protein translation inhibitor (II). STY1 could thus be regulating auxin levels via regulation of two of the YUC family members. YUC8 was however not induced to the same extent as YUC4 and no significant reduction of YUC8 transcript levels was found in SHI/STY-family quintuple mutant plants (II, III). Further, compared to YUC4, the YUC8 expression pattern was not overlapping with the STY1 expression pattern to the same extent (II). This suggests YUC8 to play a minor role in STY1-mediated regulation of auxin biosynthesis, or to be restricted to certain specific tissues. YUC4 was induced also by SHI-GR in microarray experiments (unpublished data), indicating that several SHI/STY-family members participate in the regulation of auxin biosynthesis genes.

3.3 SHI/STY-family members regulate gynoecium development at least partly by affecting local auxin levels (I, II, III)

Several *SHI/STY*-family genes are expressed in the apical part of developing gynoecia (Kuusk et al., 2002; Kuusk et al., 2006), suggesting a function in gynoecium development. Mutation in *STY1* resulted in plants with a slight depression in the style, and mutations in other *SHI/STY*-family members enhanced this phenotype, with quadruple and quintuple mutant gynoecia having unfused apical parts and almost completely lacking style tissue (Kuusk et al., 2002; Kuusk et al., 2006). Expression of STY1 fused to a repressor

domain also resulted in plants with a split in the style (II). Several SHI/STY-family members thus seem to redundantly promote style development and in agreement with this, ectopic expression of *STY1* and *STY2* resulted in ectopic formation of style cells on the valves (Kuusk et al., 2002). Another gynoecium phenotype seen both in multiple *SHI/STY*-family mutants (Kuusk et al., 2006) and in *35Spro:STY1-SRDX* plants (II) was an elongated gynophore. This suggests that SHI/STY-family members also participate in the regulation of the ovary/gynophore boundary. Since the SHI/STY-family members are positive regulators of auxin biosynthesis, these gynoecium phenotypes could result from reduced local auxin levels. The auxin biosynthesis gene, and STY1 downstream target, *YUC4*, has a similar expression pattern as the *SHI/STY* genes in the apical part of the gynoecium (Cheng et al., 2006), indicating that *YUC4* plays a role in SHI/STY-family regulated gynoecium development.

3.3.1 The style defects in *sty1-1 sty2-1* plants can be restored by elevated apical auxin levels

Gynoecia treated with a PAT inhibitor are suggested to accumulate auxin in the apical parts where it is produced (Nemhauser et al., 2000), and NPA treatment could restore the defective style development in sty1-1 and sty1-1sty2-1 plants (Sohlberg et al., 2006). The style defects in sty1-1 sty2-1 plants were also restored by exogenous application of auxin to the apex of young developing gynoecia, but not by spraying whole plants with NAA (I). A local elevated auxin level in the apical part of the gynoecium can thus restore normal style development in sty1-1 sty2-1 plants. This suggests that the style defects in *SHI/STY* mutant plants result from reduced apical auxin levels. The restoration of sty1-1 sty2-1 style defects by NPA treatment further suggests that the apical auxin synthesis is reduced but not completely abolished in this mutant line. Both sty1-1 sty2-1 and yuc4-1 mutant gynoecia were also hypersensitive to the effect of NPA on apical-basal patterning, indicating a defect in auxin homeostasis or signaling (I).

3.3.2 Both overexpression of STY1 and inhibition of PAT, can restore style development in diverse mutants

DEX induction of STY1-GR could restore the style phenotype in several unrelated mutants (I). A similar restoration was seen with NPA treatment (I), suggesting that the ability of STY1 to restore the style mutants is mediated by elevated auxin levels. As discussed above, the increased auxin levels resulting from STY1-GR induction is probably caused, at least partly, by an increase in *YUC* gene expression and thereby an increased auxin biosynthesis rate. The restoration of diverse style mutants suggests that STY1 and auxin act in a parallel pathway to the studied style-promoting genes *CRC*, *LUG*, *SEU* and *SPT*, that can compensate for several of these style-promoting factors. Alternatively, STY1, and thus also auxin, act downstream of some, or all, of these factors.

3.3.3 A model for SHI/STY-family regulation of gynoecium development

Our results suggest that STY1 induces expression of YUC4, and perhaps also YUC8, in the apical part of developing gynoecia (I, II). Other SHI/STY-family members probably contribute to the induction of YUC4 and/or other YUC genes. This apical expression of YUC genes could result in the formation of an apical auxin maximum that promotes development of style and stigma. The SHI/STY-family induced apical auxin biosynthesis could also contribute to formation of the proposed apical-basal auxin gradient. According to this model, disrupted SHI/STY function would result in decreased apical auxin biosynthesis and thereby reduced apical auxin levels. Another consequence would be that less auxin is available for the apical-basal transport, leading to a larger region of low auxin levels in the basal part of the gynoecium. These changes in auxin levels would result in reduced style and stigma formation and an apical shift of the valve/gynophore boundary, in accordance with the phenotypes seen in SHI/STY-family mutants and 35Spro:STY1-SRDX plants (II).

No gynoecium phenotype was seen in *yuc4* or *yuc4 yuc8* mutant plants (III), indicating that additional SHI/STY-family downstream target genes participate in the regulation of gynoecium development. *yuc1 yuc4* and higher order *YUC* mutant plants show varying gynoecium defects, some of which are similar to those resulting from genetic or chemical inhibition of PAT in *sty1-1* or *sty1-1 sty2-1* plants (Cheng et al., 2006; Sohlberg et al., 2006). Similar to *SHI/STY*-family mutant gynoecia, *YUC* family mutant gynoecia also show defects in vascular patterning, while other gynoecium characters differ between the genotypes (Kuusk et al., 2002; Cheng et al., 2006; Kuusk et al., 2006). The SHI/STY-family regulation of gynoecium development could thus involve additional *YUC* family members, as well as other downstream genes.

3.4 SHI/STY-family members regulate organ development through different downstream target genes (II, III)

Several approached was used to identify putative downstream targets of the SHI/STY-family members. We searched for genes highly co-expressed with

SHI/STY genes in different microarray experiments, screened the annotated *Arabidopsis* genes for the putative YUC4 STY1 binding site ACTCTAC and compared global gene expression in *35Spro:STY1-GR sty1-1 sty2-1* plants with and without DEX treatment using microarrays (III). For selected genes we also used qRT-PCR to study the effect of a protein translation inhibitor on the ability of STY1-GR to induce transcription and to analyze transcript levels in *SHI/STY*-family quintuple mutant plants (II, III). We could show that nineteen genes are induced by STY1-GR in the presence of a protein translation inhibitor and are thus possible direct downstream targets of STY1 (III). As discussed above, STY1 binds to the promoter of one of these genes, *YUC4* (II). Seven of the genes were also induced by SHI-GR in microarray experiments (unpublished data) suggesting that several SHI/STY-family members have at least some downstream targets in common.

The ectopic and elevated level of STY1 expression in the conducted experiments could possibly have resulted in induction of some genes that are not STY1 targets under wild type conditions, *i.e.* genes that are false positives. However, false positives in this experiment are not likely down-regulated in *SHI/STY* mutants. Accordingly, significantly reduced expression levels were detected for *YUC4* and an additional 11 of the 19 genes in the *SHI/STY*-family quintuple mutant (III). Additional genes may have reduced expression levels in the multiple mutant line, as our detection methods have a severe sensitivity limit for genes expressed in only a few cell types. Moreover, functional SHI/STY members might compensate for the mutated SHI/STY members in the activation of some of the downstream targets.

YUC4 and five of the other possible downstream targets were found to be highly co-expressed with several *SHI/STY*-family members in microarray experiments and/or to have a similar expression pattern as the *SHI/STY* genes in more detailed expression studies, further suggesting them to be normal SHI/STY targets (III). The other genes, so far not revealed as strongly co-regulated with *SHI/STY* genes, could still be normal SHI/STY targets at specific sites, and may in addition require other factors only overlapping with SHI/STY proteins at specific time-points/sites.

Ten of the 19 genes have the putative STY1 binding site, ACTCTAC, in their promoter (1000 bp upstream of the tss) (III). The other genes could possibly be regulated by STY1 through ACTCTAC sites located further upstream, or downstream of the genes, or through similar sequences. A shorter sequence ACTCTA is found in the promoters of four additional of the 19 genes (our unpublished data). The ACTCTAC sequence is also found in the promoters of many genes that are not induced by STY1,

indicating that additional factors are required for STY1-regulated transcriptional activation.

STY1 and the other SHI/STY-family members most likely have additional direct downstream targets that were not found among the 19 genes identified so far.

3.4.1 Two of the downstream targets affect auxin levels

As already mentioned, two of the YUC family members, YUC4 and YUC8, are among the 19 putative direct downstream targets of STY1 and the YUC4 promoter has been shown to interact directly with STY1 (II, III). YUC4 acts redundantly with YUC1 in flower development and YUC4 overexpression has been shown to cause an auxin overproduction phenotype, suggesting that YUC4 has a similar function as YUC1 in auxin biosynthesis (Zhao et al., 2001; Cheng et al., 2006). Overexpression of YUC8 result in increased auxin levels and an auxin overproduction phenotype (Hentrich, 2010), suggesting that it plays a similar role in auxin biosynthesis as other characterized YUC members, including YUC1. Auxin has an important role in many developmental processes and one pathway through which the SHI/STY members regulate plant development appears to be the direct regulation of auxin biosynthesis genes, and thereby the regulation of local auxin levels.

We could show that mutation in YUC4 results in plants lacking one or both of the lateral stamens in at least half of the flowers, and a similar phenotype was detected in the sty1 mutant, suggesting that SHI/STY members affect the initiation or development of lateral stamens through the regulation of YUC4 (III). As discussed in chapter 3.3, YUC4 is probably also involved in SHI/STY regulated gynoecium development. In addition to floral meristems and gynoecia, YUC4 expression is found in other floral organs and in leaves (Cheng et al., 2006). YUC4 could thus, redundantly with other genes, have a role in SHI/STY regulated development of other organs as well.

YUC8 is expressed in roots, sepals, petals, ovules, nectaries, anthers and stamen filaments and disruption of the YUC8 gene results in reduced filament elongation and seed production (III). This indicates that YUC8 is required for auxin-regulated filament elongation, and possibly also other processes affecting fertility. The fertilization defect, but not the filament elongation defect, is enhanced in *yuc4 yuc8* double mutants (III). Both genes are expressed in anthers and gynoecia (III; Cheng et al., 2006) but no obvious visible pollen developmental defect was found in the *yuc4 yuc8* double mutant (III), suggesting that YUC4 and YUC8 together may affect

female fertility. *SHI/STY* quintuple mutant and *35Spro:STY1-SRDX* plants have shorter stamens and produce fewer seeds compared with wild type as well, although in these genotypes, the gynoecia are also shorter and defective (III). This suggests that SHI/STY members could regulate processes affecting filament elongation and male/female fertility through the downstream targets *YUC8* and *YUC4*.

3.4.2 Other downstream targets probably directly affect cell expansion

Among the 19 putative direct downstream targets are four genes encoding enzymes potentially involved in cell expansion; a polygalacturonase family gene, an L-ascorbate oxidase encoding gene, an expansin family gene and *POLYAMINE OXIDASE 5 (PAO5)* (III). This suggests that in parallel of affecting organ growth and development via auxin mediated cell expansion, SHI/STY-family members directly regulate cell expansion through activation of genes encoding enzymes involved in this process.

The polygalacturonase family gene is highly expressed in gynoecia (III) and could thus be involved in SHI/STY regulated gynoecium development.

3.4.3 Many of the downstream targets are transcription factors and can affect organ development via target genes

Seven of the 19 genes encode putative transcription factors that, in turn, regulate downstream target genes, probably involved in SHI/STY regulated organ development. These seven transcription factors are OCTADECANOID-RESPONSIVE ARABIDOPSIS AP2/ERF 59 **ETHYLENE-RESPONSIVE** ELEMENT BINDING (ORA59), FACTOR 15 (ERF15), ERF38, ERF43, BEL1-LIKE HOMEODOMAIN 11 (BLH11), REPRODUCTIVE MERISTEM1 (REM1) and NGA2 (III).

ORA59 and ERF15 are two closely related AP2/ERF family transcription factors and ORA59 has been shown to be involved in plant defense and to induce expression of genes involved in tryptophan biosynthesis (Pré et al., 2008). In plant development ORA59 affect the number of lateral stamens (III) and could thus, together with YUC4, be involved in SHI/STY regulated initiation or development of lateral stamens. Interestingly, the three SHI/STY targets ORA59, ERF15 and YUC4 together appear to regulate the leaf shape, size and pigmentation (III). If this common effect on leaf development is related to auxin mediated processes is still unknown, although our data indicates that ORA59 could be involved in regulating auxin transport, synthesis or response, as both overexpression and disruption of ORA59 result in altered auxin response reporter expression (III). SHI/STY members could thus potentially affect auxin-



regulated development also through indirect regulation of auxin transport or signaling via regulation of ORA59.

The expression pattern of *ERF38* as well as *NGA2* strongly overlaps with that of *SHI/STY* genes, for example in the apical part of gynoecia (III), suggesting that they could be involved in SHI/STY regulated development of the gynoecium and/or other organs. *NGA* genes have been shown to redundantly regulate gynoecium development and it has been suggested that there is a positive feedback loop between the *NGA* and *SHI/STY* genes during this process (Alvarez et al., 2009; Trigueros et al., 2009). *ERF38* and *NGA2* also affect the number of lateral stamens and could function together with other SHI/STY downstream targets in the regulation of stamen number (III).

BLH11 is co-expressed with SHI/STY genes and is highly active in gynoecia (III). However, no discernible gynoecium defects were found (III), suggesting that BLH11 may act redundantly with other BEL1-like family members in gynoecium development. Interestingly, disruption of BLH11 results in longer roots, indicating that it is involved in regulating root elongation (III). No root developmental deviations have so far been found in SHI/STY-family mutants, but since SHI/STY genes are expressed in roots, it is possible that they redundantly affect this process.

Also *REM1* is highly co-expressed with *SHI/STY* genes, with expression *e.g.* in floral meristems and gynoecia (III). REM1 seems to be involved in flowering time regulation, since *rem1-3* mutants flower somewhat later than wild type in both long and short days (III). Disruption of *STY1* alone does not affect the flowering time, but one trait found among the *35Spro:STY1-SRDX* primary transformants was plants that never bolted (II), and other *35Spro:STY1-SRDX* transformants flower later than wild type (III). It is thus possible that several *SHI/STY* members redundantly regulate the transition to flowering via *REM1* and other *downstream* targets. *REM1* could also work redundantly with other *REM* family genes in *SHI/STY* regulated gynoecium development.

3.5 SHI/STY-family promoters contain a GCC-box-like regulatory element that could be important for regulation of STY1-mediated auxin biosynthesis (IV)

The similar expression patterns and redundant functions of the *SHI/STY*-family members suggest that they are co-regulated. We performed promoter analyses to identify putative transcription factor binding sites and a short conserved promoter element was found in the promoter or 5' UTR of all

SHI/STY members except SRS3 (IV). The element is 12-15 bp long with the consensus GGCGGC and is similar to an inverted ethylene responsive element called a GCC-box (IV). This GCC-box-like element is only found in promoters of a few other *Arabidopsis* genes, but is present also in promoters of rice SHI/STY homologues (IV).

Mutation of the GCC-box in the STY1pro:GUS construct results in a complete loss of the STY1 promoter regulated expression in the distal parts of the cotyledons, leaf primordia, style, ovules and receptacle (IV). This suggests that the GCC-box is important for regulating STY1 activity, and probably also the expression of other SHI/STY members. The STY1pro:GUS expression in lateral root primordia, hypocotyls, petiole and proximal part of the cotyledons remained after mutation of the GCC-box (IV), indicating that the expression in these tissues is regulated via other promoter elements. The GCC-box dependent expression domains overlap with those of YUC4. The GCC-box could thus be important for the regulation of YUC4 expression via SHI/STY genes and thereby for SHI/STY-mediated auxin biosynthesis.

Initial studies did not reveal any significantly altered *STY1* expression after treatment with an ethylene precursor, suggesting that the *SHI/STY* GCC-box is not ethylene responsive (IV). Similarly, IAA-treatment did not significantly alter the *STY1*-expression level (IV). This indicates that *STY1* expression is not regulated by either of the hormones ethylene or auxin.

Several members of the AP2/ERF transcription factor family have been shown to regulate GCC-box-containing genes and four of the *SHI/STY* genes were upregulated by overexpression of the AP2/ERF protein DORNRÖSHEN-LIKE (DRNL) in microarray experiments (Ikeda et al., 2006; Marsch-Martinez et al., 2006). Using an inducible *DRNL-ER* construct and a protein translation inhibitor we could show that DRNL can activate transcription of *SHI/STY* genes independently of protein translation (IV). *SHI/STY* genes could thus be direct downstream targets of DRNL. In addition, DRNL induced ectopic activation of *STY1pro:GUS* is dependent on a functional GCC-box (IV). This suggests that DRNL activates transcription of SHI/STY genes through interaction with the GCC-box.

4 Conclusions

These are the main conclusions from the work presented in this thesis:

SHI/STY-family members function as DNA-binding transcriptional activators.

SHI/STY-family members regulate plant development through activation of downstream target genes encoding *e.g.* auxin biosynthesis enzymes, transcription factors and enzymes involved in cell expansion.

SHI/STY-family members regulate development of lateral organs like the gynoecium through positive regulation of local auxin biosynthesis.

Auxin can compensate for loss of function of several transcription factors, such as SPT, CRC, LUG and SEU, in style development.

A conserved GCC-box-like promoter element is important for the coregulation of *SHI/STY*-family gene expression.

...

5 Future perspectives

Downstream targets of SHI/STY-family members

We have shown that STY1 binds to the promoter of *YUC4* and have identified 18 additional putative direct downstream targets. It would be interesting to test the binding of STY1 to the promoters of these additional 18 genes, using *e.g.* YIH and/or ChIP experiments.

We have made functional studies on several of the downstream target genes and have found some interesting phenotypes, but further investigations of the function of these genes and their connections to SHI/STY function could be made. What role do YUC4 and other STY1 downstream target genes play in the regulation of lateral stamen development? Do they affect the initiation or outgrowth of the organs and why are only lateral stamens affected? PRS1/WOX3 have been shown to affect the initiation of lateral stamens and sepals (Matsumoto and Okada, 2001; Shimizu et al., 2009) and a potential connection between PRS1 and e.g. YUC4 could be studied. Disruption of YUC8 results in a fertilization defect that is enhanced in the yuc4 yuc8 double mutant and it would be of interest to study if these two YUC genes regulate other processes affecting fertility in addition to stamen filament elongation. The switch to flowering is delayed in the rem1-3 mutant, but this defect is less severe in the rem1-2 mutant. This flowering trait could be dependent on the ecotype, something that could be resolved by crossing rem1-2 to Col or by studying additional insertion lines. It would also be interesting to further investigate what role REM1 plays in the complicated process of flowering time regulation. Disruption or overexpression of ORA59 results in altered auxin response reporter expression but further studies are needed to establish if ORA59 affects auxin transport, synthesis or response. One thing to investigate could be a potential effect of ORA59 on the expression or localization of PIN members. BLH11 is expressed in flowers but no aberrant flowers were

found in the mutant. Studies of higher order *BLH* family mutants could possibly identify a potential redundant role in flower development.

It is still not clear if *SHI/STY* genes are involved in the regulation of all processes found to be affected by STY1 downstream target genes and this could be investigated further. Are the *SHI/STY* genes involved *e.g.* in the regulation of root development? Knockout of additional members of this redundantly working gene family could perhaps reveal additional functions of SHI/STY members.

It would also be interesting to study the function of the other downstream target genes. Some of the genes belong to families with a suggested function in cell expansion and the involvement of these genes in cell expansion processes during development of different organs could be studied through characterization of mutant lines.

Additional downstream target genes of STY1 could possibly be identified using ChIP experiments with STY1-GR combined with sequencing of STY1-bound DNA fragments, or microarray experiments with STY1-GR induced in the presence of a protein synthesis inhibitor. The *SHI-GR* construct could also be used to identify downstream targets of SHI. This could give a better understanding of how the SHI/STY members regulate plant development.

Gynoecium development

We have shown that both overexpression of STY1 and inhibition of PAT could restore style development in several unrelated mutants. It would be interesting to further investigate the relation of these style-promoting factors to STY1 and auxin. Do STY1 and auxin act downstream of these factors, or in a parallel pathway that can compensate for the loss of several different style-promoting factors?

Which of the STY1 downstream targets participate in SHI/STY regulated gynoecium development? Several of the downstream target genes have a relatively high expression in the gynoecium and mutants in these, perhaps combined with mutants in related genes, could reveal potential involvement in gynoecium development.

Upstream regulation of SHI/STY genes

A conserved GCC-box-like element is important for the regulation of STY1 expression in *e.g.* leaves and flowers, but part of the STY1 expression domain seems to be independent of the GCC-box. It would be interesting to investigate if other promoter elements regulate the GCC-box-independent expression.

DRNL induces expression of *SHI/STY* genes but *STY1pro:GUS* or *SHIpro:GUS* expression was not altered in a *drn drnl* double mutant. Other AP2/ERF proteins could act redundantly with DRN and DRNL in the regulation of *SHI/STY* gene expression and a slight, but not statistically significant, down-regulation of *STY1* expression was detected in the *drn drnl puchi* triple mutant. This potential redundant regulation of *STY1* expression could be further tested by introducing *STY1pro:GUS* into the triple mutant, and by creating even higher order AP2/ERF mutants.

References

- Alabadí, D., Blázquez, M. A., Carbonell, J., Ferrándiz, C. & Pérez-Amador, M. A. (2009). Instructive roles for hormones in plant development. *The International Journal of Developmental Biology* 53(8-10), 1597-1608.
- Aloni, R., Schwalm, K., Langhans, M. & Ullrich, C. I. (2003). Gradual shifts in sites of freeauxin production during leaf-primordium development and their role in vascular differentiation and leaf morphogenesis in Arabidopsis. *Planta* 216(5), 841-853.
- Alonso-Cantabrana, H., Ripoll, J. J., Ochando, I., Vera, A., Ferrándiz, C. & Martínez-Laborda, A. (2007). Common regulatory networks in leaf and fruit patterning revealed by mutations in the Arabidopsis ASYMMETRIC LEAVES1 gene. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 134(14), 2663-2671.
- Alvarez-Buylla, E. R., Benítez, M., Corvera-Poiré, A., Chaos Cador, Á., de Folter, S., Gamboa de Buen, A., Garay-Arroyo, A., García-Ponce, B., Jaimes-Miranda, F., Pérez-Ruiz, R. V., Piñeyro-Nelson, A. & Sánchez-Corrales, Y. E. (2011). Flower Development. *The Arabidopsis Book* 8(1), 1-57.
- Alvarez, J. & Smyth, D. R. (1999). CRABS CLAW and SPATULA, two Arabidopsis genes that control carpel development in parallel with AGAMOUS. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 126(11), 2377-2386.
- Alvarez, J. P., Goldshmidt, A., Efroni, I., Bowman, J. L. & Eshed, Y. (2009). The NGATHA distal organ development genes are essential for style specification in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell* 21(5), 1373-1393.
- Bainbridge, K., Guyomarc'h, S., Bayer, E., Swarup, R., Bennett, M., Mandel, T. & Kuhlemeier, C. (2008). Auxin influx carriers stabilize phyllotactic patterning. *Genes & Development* 22(6), 810-823.
- Balanzá, V., Navarrete, M., Trigueros, M. & Ferrándiz, C. (2006). Patterning the female side of Arabidopsis: the importance of hormones. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57(13), 3457– 3469.
- Bari, R. & Jones, J. D. G. (2009). Role of plant hormones in plant defence responses. *Plant Molecular Biology* 69(4), 473-488.
- Barton, M. K. (2010). Twenty years on: the inner workings of the shoot apical meristem, a developmental dynamo. *Developmental Biology* 341(1), 95-113.

- Benjamins, R., Quint, A., Weijers, D., Hooykaas, P. & Offringa, R. (2001). The PINOID protein kinase regulates organ development in Arabidopsis by enhancing polar auxin transport. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 128(20), 4057-4067.
- Benková, E., Michniewicz, M., Sauer, M., Teichmann, T., Seifertová, D., Jürgens, G. & Friml, J. (2003). Local, efflux-dependent auxin gradients as a common module for plant organ formation. *Cell* 115(5), 591-602.
- Bennett, M. J., Marchant, A., Green, H. G., May, S. T., Ward, S. P., Millner, P. A., Walker, A. R., Schulz, B. & Feldmann, K. A. (1996). Arabidopsis AUX1 gene: a permease-like regulator of root gravitropism. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 273(5277), 948-950.
- Bennett, S. R., Alvarez, J., Bossinger, G. & Smyth, D. R. (1995). Morphogenesis in pinoid mutants of Arabidopsis thaliana. *The Plant Journal* 8(4), 505-520.
- Bevan, M. & Walsh, S. (2005). The Arabidopsis genome: a foundation for plant research. *Genome Research* 15(12), 1632–1642.
- Bhalerao, R. P. & Bennett, M. J. (2003). The case for morphogens in plants. Nature Cell Biology 5(11), 939-943.
- Blázquez, M. A., Soowal, L. N., Lee, I. & Weigel, D. (1997). LEAFY expression and flower initiation in Arabidopsis. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 124(19), 3835-3844.
- Boerjan, W., Cervera, M. T., Delarue, M., Beeckman, T., Dewitte, W., Bellini, C., Caboche, M., Van Onckelen, H., Van Montagu, M. & Inzé, D. (1995). Superroot, a recessive mutation in Arabidopsis, confers auxin overproduction. *The Plant Cell* 7(9), 1405-1419.
- Bohn-Courseau, I. (2010). Auxin: a major regulator of organogenesis. *Comptes Rendus Biologies* 333(4), 290-296.
- Borghi, L., Bureau, M. & Simon, R. (2007). Arabidopsis JAGGED LATERAL ORGANS is expressed in boundaries and coordinates KNOX and PIN activity. *The Plant Cell* 19(6), 1795-1808.
- Bowman, J. L., Smyth, D. R. & Meyerowitz, E. M. (1991). Genetic interactions among floral homeotic genes of Arabidopsis. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 112(1), 1-20.
- Braun, N., Wyrzykowska, J., Muller, P., David, K., Couch, D., Perrot-Rechenmann, C. & Fleming, A. J. (2008). Conditional repression of AUXIN BINDING PROTEIN1 reveals that it coordinates cell division and cell expansion during postembryonic shoot development in Arabidopsis and tobacco. *The Plant Cell* 20(10), 2746-2762.
- Braybrook, S. A. & Kuhlemeier, C. (2010). How a Plant Builds Leaves. *Plant Cell* 22(4), 1006-1018.
- Byrne, M. E., Barley, R., Curtis, M., Arroyo, J. M., Dunham, M., Hudson, A. & Martienssen, R. A. (2000). Asymmetric leaves1 mediates leaf patterning and stem cell function in Arabidopsis. *Nature* 408(6815), 967-971.
- Cecchetti, V., Altamura, M. M., Falasca, G., Costantino, P. & Cardarelli, M. (2008). Auxin regulates Arabidopsis anther dehiscence, pollen maturation, and filament elongation. *The Plant Cell* 20(7), 1760-1774.
- Chandler, J. W. (2009). Auxin as compère in plant hormone crosstalk. *Planta* 231(1), 1-12.
- Chen, X. (2004). A microRNA as a translational repressor of APETALA2 in Arabidopsis flower development. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 303(5666), 2022-2025.

- Cheng, H., Qin, L., Lee, S., Fu, X., Richards, D. E., Cao, D., Luo, D., Harberd, N. P. & Peng, J. (2004). Gibberellin regulates Arabidopsis floral development via suppression of DELLA protein function. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 131(5), 1055-1064.
- Cheng, H., Song, S., Xiao, L., Soo, H. M., Cheng, Z., Xie, D. & Peng, J. (2009). Gibberellin acts through jasmonate to control the expression of MYB21, MYB24, and MYB57 to promote stamen filament growth in Arabidopsis. *PLoS Genetics* 5(3), e1000440.
- Cheng, Y., Dai, X. & Zhao, Y. (2006). Auxin biosynthesis by the YUCCA flavin monooxygenases controls the formation of floral organs and vascular tissues in Arabidopsis. *Genes & Development* 20(13), 1790-1799.
- Cheng, Y., Dai, X. & Zhao, Y. (2007). Auxin synthesized by the YUCCA flavin monooxygenases is essential for embryogenesis and leaf formation in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell* 19(8), 2430-2439.
- Coen, E. S. & Meyerowitz, E. M. (1991). The war of the whorls: genetic interactions controlling flower development. *Nature* 353(6339), 31–37.
- Colombo, M., Brambilla, V., Marcheselli, R., Caporali, E., Kater, M. M. & Colombo, L. (2010). A new role for the SHATTERPROOF genes during Arabidopsis gynoecium development. *Developmental Biology* 337(2), 294–302.
- Delarue, M., Prinsen, E., Onckelen, H. V., Caboche, M. & Bellini, C. (1998). Sur2 mutations of Arabidopsis thaliana define a new locus involved in the control of auxin homeostasis. *The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology* 14(5), 603-611.
- Dharmasiri, N., Dharmasiri, S., Weijers, D., Lechner, E., Yamada, M., Hobbie, L., Ehrismann, J. S., Jürgens, G. & Estelle, M. (2005). Plant development is regulated by a family of auxin receptor F box proteins. *Developmental Cell* 9(1), 109-119.
- Dinneny, J. R., Weigel, D. & Yanofsky, M. F. (2005). A genetic framework for fruit patterning in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 132(21), 4687-4696.
- Dinneny, J. R., Weigel, D. & Yanofsky, M. F. (2006). NUBBIN and JAGGED define stamen and carpel shape in Arabidopsis. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 133(9), 1645– 1655.
- Dinneny, J. R. & Yanofsky, M. F. (2005). Drawing lines and borders: how the dehiscent fruit of Arabidopsis is patterned. *BioEssays: News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology* 27(1), 42-49.
- Ditta, G., Pinyopich, A., Robles, P., Pelaz, S. & Yanofsky, M. F. (2004). The SEP4 gene of Arabidopsis thaliana functions in floral organ and meristem identity. *Current Biology: CB* 14(21), 1935–1940.
- Donnelly, P. M., Bonetta, D., Tsukaya, H., Dengler, R. E. & Dengler, N. G. (1999). Cell Cycling and Cell Enlargement in Developing Leaves of Arabidopsis. *Developmental Biology* 215(2), 407-419.
- Efroni, I., Eshed, Y. & Lifschitz, E. (2010). Morphogenesis of simple and compound leaves: a critical review. *The Plant Cell* 22(4), 1019–1032.
- Eklund, D. M., Thelander, M., Landberg, K., Ståldal, V., Nilsson, A., Johansson, M., Valsecchi, I., Pederson, E. R. A., Kowalczyk, M., Ljung, K., Ronne, H. & Sundberg, E. (2010). Homologues of the Arabidopsis thaliana SHI/STY/LRP1 genes control auxin

biosynthesis and affect growth and development in the moss Physcomitrella patens. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 137(8), 1275-1284.

- Eshed, Y., Izhaki, A., Baum, S. F., Floyd, S. K. & Bowman, J. L. (2004). Asymmetric leaf development and blade expansion in Arabidopsis are mediated by KANADI and YABBY activities. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 131(12), 2997–3006.
- Feng, X., Ni, W., Elge, S., Mueller-Roeber, B., Xu, Z. & Xue, H. (2006). Auxin flow in anther filaments is critical for pollen grain development through regulating pollen mitosis. *Plant Molecular Biology* 61(1-2), 215-226.
- Feraru, E. & Friml, J. (2008). PIN polar targeting. Plant Physiology 147(4), 1553-1559.
- Ferrándiz, C., Pelaz, S. & Yanofsky, M. F. (1999). Control of carpel and fruit development in Arabidopsis. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 68, 321-354.
- Finkelstein, R. R., Gampala, S. S. L. & Rock, C. D. (2002). Abscisic Acid Signaling in Seeds and Seedlings. *Plant Cell* 14(90001), S15-45.
- Fletcher, J. C., Brand, U., Running, M. P., Simon, R. & Meyerowitz, E. M. (1999). Signaling of cell fate decisions by CLAVATA3 in Arabidopsis shoot meristems. *Science* (*New York*, *N.Y.*) 283(5409), 1911-1914.
- Franks, R. G., Wang, C., Levin, J. Z. & Liu, Z. (2002). SEUSS, a member of a novel family of plant regulatory proteins, represses floral homeotic gene expression with LEUNIG. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 129(1), 253-263.
- Fridborg, I., Kuusk, S., Moritz, T. & Sundberg, E. (1999). The Arabidopsis dwarf mutant shi exhibits reduced gibberellin responses conferred by overexpression of a new putative zinc finger protein. *The Plant Cell* 11(6), 1019–1032.
- Fridborg, I., Kuusk, S., Robertson, M. & Sundberg, E. (2001). The Arabidopsis Protein SHI Represses Gibberellin Responses in Arabidopsis and Barley. *Plant Physiol.* 127(3), 937– 948.
- Friml, J., Benková, E., Blilou, I., Wisniewska, J., Hamann, T., Ljung, K., Woody, S., Sandberg, G., Scheres, B., Jürgens, G. & Palme, K. (2002a). AtPIN4 mediates sink-driven auxin gradients and root patterning in Arabidopsis. *Cell* 108(5), 661-673.
- Friml, J., Wiśniewska, J., Benková, E., Mendgen, K. & Palme, K. (2002b). Lateral relocation of auxin efflux regulator PIN3 mediates tropism in Arabidopsis. *Nature* 415(6873), 806-809.
- Friml, J., Yang, X., Michniewicz, M., Weijers, D., Quint, A., Tietz, O., Benjamins, R., Ouwerkerk, P. B. F., Ljung, K., Sandberg, G., Hooykaas, P. J. J., Palme, K. & Offringa, R. (2004). A PINOID-dependent binary switch in apical-basal PIN polar targeting directs auxin efflux. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 306(5697), 862-865.
- Fu, Y., Xu, L., Xu, B., Yang, L., Ling, Q., Wang, H. & Huang, H. (2007). Genetic interactions between leaf polarity-controlling genes and ASYMMETRIC LEAVES1 and 2 in Arabidopsis leaf patterning. *Plant & Cell Physiology* 48(5), 724-735.
- Garcia, D., Collier, S. A., Byrne, M. E. & Martienssen, R. A. (2006). Specification of leaf polarity in Arabidopsis via the trans-acting siRNA pathway. *Current Biology: CB* 16(9), 933–938.

- Gremski, K., Ditta, G. & Yanofsky, M. F. (2007). The HECATE genes regulate female reproductive tract development in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 134(20), 3593-3601.
- Guilfoyle, T. J. & Hagen, G. (2007). Auxin response factors. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 10(5), 453-460.
- Hay, A., Barkoulas, M. & Tsiantis, M. (2006). ASYMMETRIC LEAVES1 and auxin activities converge to repress BREVIPEDICELLUS expression and promote leaf development in Arabidopsis. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 133(20), 3955-3961.
- Heisler, M. G., Atkinson, A., Bylstra, Y. H., Walsh, R. & Smyth, D. R. (2001). SPATULA, a gene that controls development of carpel margin tissues in Arabidopsis, encodes a bHLH protein. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 128(7), 1089-1098.
- Hentrich, M. (2010). Molekulare Mechanismen der Octadecanoid-regulierten Indol-3essigsäure-Biosynthese. Logos Berlin. ISBN 3832525939.
- Hepworth, S. R., Zhang, Y., McKim, S., Li, X. & Haughn, G. W. (2005). BLADE-ON-PETIOLE-dependent signaling controls leaf and floral patterning in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell* 17(5), 1434-1448.
- Hull, A. K., Vij, R. & Celenza, J. L. (2000). Arabidopsis cytochrome P450s that catalyze the first step of tryptophan-dependent indole-3-acetic acid biosynthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 97(5), 2379-2384.
- Ikeda, Y., Banno, H., Niu, Q., Howell, S. H. & Chua, N. (2006). The ENHANCER OF SHOOT REGENERATION 2 gene in Arabidopsis regulates CUP-SHAPED COTYLEDON 1 at the transcriptional level and controls cotyledon development. *Plant* & Cell Physiology 47(11), 1443-1456.
- Irish, V. F. (2010). The flowering of Arabidopsis flower development. The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology 61(6), 1014–1028.
- Jun, J. H., Ha, C. M. & Fletcher, J. C. (2010). BLADE-ON-PETIOLE1 coordinates organ determinacy and axial polarity in arabidopsis by directly activating ASYMMETRIC LEAVES2. *The Plant Cell* 22(1), 62-76.
- Kang, S., Kang, K., Lee, K. & Back, K. (2007). Characterization of rice tryptophan decarboxylases and their direct involvement in serotonin biosynthesis in transgenic rice. *Planta* 227(1), 263-272.
- Kieffer, M., Neve, J. & Kepinski, S. (2010). Defining auxin response contexts in plant development. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 13(1), 12-20.
- Komeda, Y. (2004). Genetic regulation of time to flower in Arabidopsis thaliana. Annual Review of Plant Biology 55, 521-535.
- Koornneef, M. & Meinke, D. (2010). The development of Arabidopsis as a model plant. *The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology* 61(6), 909-921.
- Kornberg, R. D. (1999). Eukaryotic transcriptional control. Trends in Cell Biology 9(12), M46-49.
- Krupinski, P. & Jönsson, H. (2010). Modeling auxin-regulated development. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 2(2), a001560.

- Kuusk, S., Sohlberg, J. J., Long, J. A., Fridborg, I. & Sundberg, E. (2002). STY1 and STY2 promote the formation of apical tissues during Arabidopsis gynoecium development. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 129(20), 4707-4717.
- Kuusk, S., Sohlberg, J. J., Magnus Eklund, D. & Sundberg, E. (2006). Functionally redundant SHI family genes regulate Arabidopsis gynoecium development in a dosedependent manner. *The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology* 47(1), 99-111.
- Lau, S., Jürgens, G. & De Smet, I. (2008). The evolving complexity of the auxin pathway. *The Plant Cell* 20(7), 1738-1746.
- Laux, T., Mayer, K. F., Berger, J. & Jürgens, G. (1996). The WUSCHEL gene is required for shoot and floral meristem integrity in Arabidopsis. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 122(1), 87-96.
- Lee, I., Wolfe, D. S., Nilsson, O. & Weigel, D. (1997). A LEAFY co-regulator encoded by UNUSUAL FLORAL ORGANS. *Current Biology: CB* 7(2), 95-104.
- Lehmann, T., Hoffmann, M., Hentrich, M. & Pollmann, S. (2010). Indole-3-acetamidedependent auxin biosynthesis: a widely distributed way of indole-3-acetic acid production? *European Journal of Cell Biology* 89(12), 895-905.
- Lenhard, M., Bohnert, A., Jürgens, G. & Laux, T. (2001). Termination of stem cell maintenance in Arabidopsis floral meristems by interactions between WUSCHEL and AGAMOUS. *Cell* 105(6), 805-814.
- Li, L., Qin, G., Tsuge, T., Hou, X., Ding, M., Aoyama, T., Oka, A., Chen, Z., Gu, H., Zhao, Y. & Qu, L. (2008). SPOROCYTELESS modulates YUCCA expression to regulate the development of lateral organs in Arabidopsis. *The New Phytologist* 179(3), 751-764.
- Liljegren, S. J., Gustafson-Brown, C., Pinyopich, A., Ditta, G. S. & Yanofsky, M. F. (1999). Interactions among APETALA1, LEAFY, and TERMINAL FLOWER1 specify meristem fate. *The Plant Cell* 11(6), 1007-1018.
- Liu, L., White, M. J. & MacRae, T. H. (1999). Transcription factors and their genes in higher plants functional domains, evolution and regulation. *European Journal of Biochemistry* / FEBS 262(2), 247-257.
- Ljung, K., Bhalerao, R. P. & Sandberg, G. (2001). Sites and homeostatic control of auxin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis during vegetative growth. *The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology* 28(4), 465-474.
- Ljung, K., Hull, A. K., Celenza, J., Yamada, M., Estelle, M., Normanly, J. & Sandberg, G. (2005). Sites and regulation of auxin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis roots. *The Plant Cell* 17(4), 1090-1104.
- Marsch-Martinez, N., Greco, R., Becker, J. D., Dixit, S., Bergervoet, J. H. W., Karaba, A., de Folter, S. & Pereira, A. (2006). BOLITA, an Arabidopsis AP2/ERF-like transcription factor that affects cell expansion and proliferation/differentiation pathways. *Plant Molecular Biology* 62(6), 825-843.
- Matsumoto, N. & Okada, K. (2001). A homeobox gene, PRESSED FLOWER, regulates lateral axis-dependent development of Arabidopsis flowers. *Genes & Development* 15(24), 3355-3364.



- McConnell, J. R., Emery, J., Eshed, Y., Bao, N., Bowman, J. & Barton, M. K. (2001). Role of PHABULOSA and PHAVOLUTA in determining radial patterning in shoots. *Nature* 411(6838), 709-713.
- Meyerowitz, E. M. (1987). Arabidopsis thaliana. Annual Review of Genetics 21, 93-111.
- Michaels, S. D. (2009). Flowering time regulation produces much fruit. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 12(1), 75-80.
- Michniewicz, M., Zago, M. K., Abas, L., Weijers, D., Schweighofer, A., Meskiene, I.,
 Heisler, M. G., Ohno, C., Zhang, J., Huang, F., Schwab, R., Weigel, D., Meyerowitz,
 E. M., Luschnig, C., Offringa, R. & Friml, J. (2007). Antagonistic regulation of PIN
 phosphorylation by PP2A and PINOID directs auxin flux. *Cell* 130(6), 1044-1056.
- Mravec, J., Kubes, M., Bielach, A., Gaykova, V., Petrásek, J., Skůpa, P., Chand, S., Benková, E., Zazímalová, E. & Friml, J. (2008). Interaction of PIN and PGP transport mechanisms in auxin distribution-dependent development. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 135(20), 3345-3354.
- Mravec, J., Skůpa, P., Bailly, A., Hoyerová, K., Krecek, P., Bielach, A., Petrásek, J., Zhang, J., Gaykova, V., Stierhof, Y., Dobrev, P. I., Schwarzerová, K., Rolcík, J., Seifertová, D., Luschnig, C., Benková, E., Zazímalová, E., Geisler, M. & Friml, J. (2009). Subcellular homeostasis of phytohormone auxin is mediated by the ER-localized PIN5 transporter. *Nature* 459(7250), 1136-1140.
- Möller-Steinbach, Y., Alexandre, C. & Hennig, L. (2010). Flowering time control. Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.) 655, 229-237.
- Möller, B. & Weijers, D. (2009). Auxin control of embryo patterning. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 1(5), a001545.
- Nagpal, P., Ellis, C. M., Weber, H., Ploense, S. E., Barkawi, L. S., Guilfoyle, T. J., Hagen, G., Alonso, J. M., Cohen, J. D., Farmer, E. E., Ecker, J. R. & Reed, J. W. (2005). Auxin response factors ARF6 and ARF8 promote jasmonic acid production and flower maturation. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 132(18), 4107-4118.
- Nemhauser, J. L., Feldman, L. J. & Zambryski, P. C. (2000). Auxin and ETTIN in Arabidopsis gynoecium morphogenesis. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 127(18), 3877– 3888.
- Nemoto, K., Hara, M., Suzuki, M., Seki, H., Muranaka, T. & Mano, Y. (2009). The NtAMI1 gene functions in cell division of tobacco BY-2 cells in the presence of indole-3-acetamide. *FEBS Letters* 583(2), 487-492.
- Nikovics, K., Blein, T., Peaucelle, A., Ishida, T., Morin, H., Aida, M. & Laufs, P. (2006). The balance between the MIR164A and CUC2 genes controls leaf margin serration in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell* 18(11), 2929-2945.
- Nole-Wilson, S., Azhakanandam, S. & Franks, R. G. (2010). Polar auxin transport together with aintegumenta and revoluta coordinate early Arabidopsis gynoecium development. *Developmental Biology* 346(2), 181-195.
- Nonhebel, H., Yuan, Y., Al-Amier, H., Pieck, M., Akor, E., Ahamed, A., Cohen, J. D., Celenza, J. L. & Normanly, J. (2011). Redirection of tryptophan metabolism in tobacco by ectopic expression of an Arabidopsis indolic glucosinolate biosynthetic gene. Phytochemistry 72(1), 37-48.

- Normanly, J. (2010). Approaching cellular and molecular resolution of auxin biosynthesis and metabolism. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 2(1), a001594.
- Näär, A. M., Lemon, B. D. & Tjian, R. (2001). TRANSCRIPTIONAL COACTIVATOR COMPLEXES. Annual Review of Biochemistry 70(1), 475-501.
- Ori, N., Eshed, Y., Chuck, G., Bowman, J. L. & Hake, S. (2000). Mechanisms that control knox gene expression in the Arabidopsis shoot. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 127(24), 5523-5532.
- Overvoorde, P., Fukaki, H. & Beeckman, T. (2010). Auxin control of root development. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 2(6), a001537.
- Paciorek, T., Zazímalová, E., Ruthardt, N., Petrásek, J., Stierhof, Y., Kleine-Vehn, J., Morris, D. A., Emans, N., Jürgens, G., Geldner, N. & Friml, J. (2005). Auxin inhibits endocytosis and promotes its own efflux from cells. *Nature* 435(7046), 1251-1256.
- Payne, T., Johnson, S. D. & Koltunow, A. M. (2004). KNUCKLES (KNU) encodes a C2H2 zinc-finger protein that regulates development of basal pattern elements of the Arabidopsis gynoecium. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 131(15), 3737-3749.
- Pekker, I., Alvarez, J. P. & Eshed, Y. (2005). Auxin response factors mediate Arabidopsis organ asymmetry via modulation of KANADI activity. *The Plant Cell* 17(11), 2899-2910.
- Péret, B., De Rybel, B., Casimiro, I., Benková, E., Swarup, R., Laplaze, L., Beeckman, T. & Bennett, M. J. (2009). Arabidopsis lateral root development: an emerging story. *Trends in Plant Science* 14(7), 399-408.
- Pérez-Pérez, J. M., Serrano-Cartagena, J. & Micol, J. L. (2002). Genetic analysis of natural variations in the architecture of Arabidopsis thaliana vegetative leaves. *Genetics* 162(2), 893-915.
- Petrásek, J. & Friml, J. (2009). Auxin transport routes in plant development. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 136(16), 2675-2688.
- Petrásek, J., Mravec, J., Bouchard, R., Blakeslee, J. J., Abas, M., Seifertová, D., Wisniewska, J., Tadele, Z., Kubes, M., Covanová, M., Dhonukshe, P., Skupa, P., Benková, E., Perry, L., Krecek, P., Lee, O. R., Fink, G. R., Geisler, M., Murphy, A. S., Luschnig, C., Zazímalová, E. & Friml, J. (2006). PIN proteins perform a rate-limiting function in cellular auxin efflux. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 312(5775), 914–918.
- Phillips, K. A., Skirpan, A. L., Liu, X., Christensen, A., Slewinski, T. L., Hudson, C., Barazesh, S., Cohen, J. D., Malcomber, S. & McSteen, P. (2011). vanishing tassel2 Encodes a Grass-Specific Tryptophan Aminotransferase Required for Vegetative and Reproductive Development in Maize. Plant Cell tpc.110.075267.
- Pollmann, S., Neu, D., Lehmann, T., Berkowitz, O., Schäfer, T. & Weiler, E. W. (2006). Subcellular localization and tissue specific expression of amidase 1 from Arabidopsis thaliana. *Planta* 224(6), 1241-1253.
- Pré, M., Atallah, M., Champion, A., De Vos, M., Pieterse, C. M. J. & Memelink, J. (2008). The AP2/ERF domain transcription factor ORA59 integrates jasmonic acid and ethylene signals in plant defense. *Plant Physiology* 147(3), 1347–1357.
- Priest, H. D., Filichkin, S. A. & Mockler, T. C. (2009). Cis-regulatory elements in plant cell signaling. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 12(5), 643-649.



- Rawat, R., Schwartz, J., Jones, M. A., Sairanen, I., Cheng, Y., Andersson, C. R., Zhao, Y., Ljung, K. & Harmer, S. L. (2009). REVEILLE1, a Myb-like transcription factor, integrates the circadian clock and auxin pathways. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106(39), 16883-16888.
- Reinhardt, D., Frenz, M., Mandel, T. & Kuhlemeier, C. (2005). Microsurgical and laser ablation analysis of leaf positioning and dorsoventral patterning in tomato. *Development* (*Cambridge, England*) 132(1), 15-26.
- Reinhardt, D., Pesce, E., Stieger, P., Mandel, T., Baltensperger, K., Bennett, M., Traas, J., Friml, J. & Kuhlemeier, C. (2003). Regulation of phyllotaxis by polar auxin transport. *Nature* 426(6964), 255-260.
- Riechmann, J. L. (2002). Transcriptional Regulation: a Genomic Overview. *The Arabidopsis Book* 16(1), 1.
- Rizzardi, K., Landberg, K., Nilsson, L., Ljung, K. & Sundås-Larsson, A. (2010). TFL2/LHP1 is involved in auxin biosynthesis through positive regulation of YUCCA genes. *The Plant Journal* no-no.
- Roeder, A. H. & Yanofsky, M. F. (2005). Fruit Development in Arabidopsis. *The Arabidopsis Book* 52(1), 1.
- Rombauts, S., Florquin, K., Lescot, M., Marchal, K., Rouzé, P. & van de Peer, Y. (2003). Computational approaches to identify promoters and cis-regulatory elements in plant genomes. *Plant Physiology* 132(3), 1162-1176.
- Sablowski, R. (2010). Genes and functions controlled by floral organ identity genes. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 21(1), 94–99.
- Sanders, P. M., Lee, P. Y., Biesgen, C., Boone, J. D., Beals, T. P., Weiler, E. W. & Goldberg, R. B. (2000). The arabidopsis DELAYED DEHISCENCE1 gene encodes an enzyme in the jasmonic acid synthesis pathway. *The Plant Cell* 12(7), 1041-1061.
- Sanders, P. M., Bui, A. Q., Weterings, K., McIntire, K. N., Hsu, Y., Lee, P. Y., Truong, M. T., Beals, T. P. & Goldberg, R. B. (1999). Anther developmental defects in Arabidopsis thaliana male-sterile mutants. *Sexual Plant Reproduction* 11(6), 297–322.
- Santner, A., Calderon-Villalobos, L. I. A. & Estelle, M. (2009). Plant hormones are versatile chemical regulators of plant growth. *Nature Chemical Biology* 5(5), 301-307.
- Santner, A. & Estelle, M. (2009). Recent advances and emerging trends in plant hormone signalling. *Nature* 459(7250), 1071-1078.
- Scarpella, E., Barkoulas, M. & Tsiantis, M. (2010). Control of leaf and vein development by auxin. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 2(1), a001511.
- Scheres, B., Benfey, P. & Dolan, L. (2002). Root Development. *The Arabidopsis Book* 40(1), 1.
- Scott, R. J., Spielman, M. & Dickinson, H. G. (2004). Stamen structure and function. *The Plant Cell* 16 Suppl, S46-60.
- Scutt, C. P., Vinauger-Douard, M., Fourquin, C., Finet, C. & Dumas, C. (2006). An evolutionary perspective on the regulation of carpel development. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57(10), 2143 –2152.

- Sessions, A., Nemhauser, J. L., McColl, A., Roe, J. L., Feldmann, K. A. & Zambryski, P. C. (1997). ETTIN patterns the Arabidopsis floral meristem and reproductive organs. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 124(22), 4481-4491.
- Shani, E., Yanai, O. & Ori, N. (2006). The role of hormones in shoot apical meristem function. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 9(5), 484-489.
- Shimizu, R., Ji, J., Kelsey, E., Ohtsu, K., Schnable, P. S. & Scanlon, M. J. (2009). Tissue specificity and evolution of meristematic WOX3 function. *Plant Physiology* 149(2), 841– 850.
- Shindo, C., Bernasconi, G. & Hardtke, C. S. (2007). Natural genetic variation in Arabidopsis: tools, traits and prospects for evolutionary ecology. *Annals of Botany* 99(6), 1043-1054.
- Simpson, G. G., Gendall, A. R. & Dean, C. (1999). When to switch to flowering. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 15, 519–550.
- Sohlberg, J. J., Myrenås, M., Kuusk, S., Lagercrantz, U., Kowalczyk, M., Sandberg, G. & Sundberg, E. (2006). STY1 regulates auxin homeostasis and affects apical-basal patterning of the Arabidopsis gynoecium. *The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology* 47(1), 112-123.
- Spaepen, S. & Vanderleyden, J. (2010). Auxin and Plant-Microbe Interactions. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* [online], Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21084388. [Accessed 2010-12-06].

- Stepanova, A. N., Robertson-Hoyt, J., Yun, J., Benavente, L. M., Xie, D., Dolezal, K., Schlereth, A., Jürgens, G. & Alonso, J. M. (2008). TAA1-mediated auxin biosynthesis is essential for hormone crosstalk and plant development. *Cell* 133(1), 177-191.
- Stone, S. L., Braybrook, S. A., Paula, S. L., Kwong, L. W., Meuser, J., Pelletier, J., Hsieh, T., Fischer, R. L., Goldberg, R. B. & Harada, J. J. (2008). Arabidopsis LEAFY COTYLEDON2 induces maturation traits and auxin activity: Implications for somatic embryogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105(8), 3151-3156.
- Strader, L. C., Monroe-Augustus, M. & Bartel, B. (2008). The IBR5 phosphatase promotes Arabidopsis auxin responses through a novel mechanism distinct from TIR1-mediated repressor degradation. *BMC Plant Biology* 8, 41.
- Sugawara, S., Hishiyama, S., Jikumaru, Y., Hanada, A., Nishimura, T., Koshiba, T., Zhao, Y., Kamiya, Y. & Kasahara, H. (2009). Biochemical analyses of indole-3-acetaldoximedependent auxin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America 106(13), 5430-5435.
- Sun, B. & Ito, T. (2010). Floral stem cells: from dynamic balance towards termination. Biochemical Society Transactions 38(2), 613-616.
- Sun, B., Xu, Y., Ng, K. & Ito, T. (2009). A timing mechanism for stem cell maintenance and differentiation in the Arabidopsis floral meristem. *Genes & Development* 23(15), 1791– 1804.
- Sundberg, E. & Østergaard, L. (2009). Distinct and dynamic auxin activities during reproductive development. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 1(6), a001628.



- Sundström, J. F., Nakayama, N., Glimelius, K. & Irish, V. F. (2006). Direct regulation of the floral homeotic APETALA1 gene by APETALA3 and PISTILLATA in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology* 46(4), 593-600.
- Suzuki, M. & McCarty, D. R. (2008). Functional symmetry of the B3 network controlling seed development. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 11(5), 548-553.
- Swarup, K., Benková, E., Swarup, R., Casimiro, I., Péret, B., Yang, Y., Parry, G., Nielsen, E., De Smet, I., Vanneste, S., Levesque, M. P., Carrier, D., James, N., Calvo, V., Ljung, K., Kramer, E., Roberts, R., Graham, N., Marillonnet, S., Patel, K., Jones, J. D. G., Taylor, C. G., Schachtman, D. P., May, S., Sandberg, G., Benfey, P., Friml, J., Kerr, I., Beeckman, T., Laplaze, L. & Bennett, M. J. (2008). The auxin influx carrier LAX3 promotes lateral root emergence. *Nature Cell Biology* 10(8), 946-954.
- Swarup, R., Friml, J., Marchant, A., Ljung, K., Sandberg, G., Palme, K. & Bennett, M. (2001). Localization of the auxin permease AUX1 suggests two functionally distinct hormone transport pathways operate in the Arabidopsis root apex. *Genes & Development* 15(20), 2648-2653.
- Taiz, L. & Zeiger, E. (eds.) (2006). *Plant physiology*. 4th Ed. Sunderland: Sinauer Associates, Inc.
- Takada, S., Hibara, K., Ishida, T. & Tasaka, M. (2001). The CUP-SHAPED COTYLEDON1 gene of Arabidopsis regulates shoot apical meristem formation. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 128(7), 1127-1135.
- Takatsuji, H. (1998). Zinc-finger transcription factors in plants. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS 54(6), 582-596.
- Tanaka, H., Dhonukshe, P., Brewer, P. B. & Friml, J. (2006). Spatiotemporal asymmetric auxin distribution: a means to coordinate plant development. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS* 63(23), 2738–2754.
- Tao, Y., Ferrer, J., Ljung, K., Pojer, F., Hong, F., Long, J. A., Li, L., Moreno, J. E., Bowman, M. E., Ivans, L. J., Cheng, Y., Lim, J., Zhao, Y., Ballaré, C. L., Sandberg, G., Noel, J. P. & Chory, J. (2008). Rapid synthesis of auxin via a new tryptophan-dependent pathway is required for shade avoidance in plants. *Cell* 133(1), 164–176.
- Tashiro, S., Tian, C., Watahiki, M. K. & Yamamoto, K. T. (2009). Changes in growth kinetics of stamen filaments cause inefficient pollination in massugu2, an auxin insensitive, dominant mutant of Arabidopsis thaliana. *Physiologia Plantarum* 137(2), 175-187.
- The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative (2000). Nature 408(6814), 796-815.
- Tivendale, N. D., Davies, N. W., Molesworth, P. P., Davidson, S. E., Smith, J. A., Lowe, E. K., Reid, J. B. & Ross, J. J. (2010). Reassessing the role of N-hydroxytryptamine in auxin biosynthesis. Plant Physiology 154(4), 1957-1965.
- Tobeña-Santamaria, R., Bliek, M., Ljung, K., Sandberg, G., Mol, J. N. M., Souer, E. & Koes, R. (2002). FLOOZY of petunia is a flavin mono-oxygenase-like protein required for the specification of leaf and flower architecture. *Genes & Development* 16(6), 753-763.
- Trigueros, M., Navarrete-Gómez, M., Sato, S., Christensen, S. K., Pelaz, S., Weigel, D., Yanofsky, M. F. & Ferrándiz, C. (2009). The NGATHA genes direct style development in the Arabidopsis gynoecium. *The Plant Cell* 21(5), 1394-1409.

- Tromas, A. & Perrot-Rechenmann, C. (2010). Recent progress in auxin biology. Comptes Rendus Biologies 333(4), 297-306.
- Tsukaya, H. & Uchimiya, H. (1997). Genetic analyses of the formation of the serrated margin of leaf blades in Arabidopsis: combination of a mutational analysis of leaf morphogenesis with the characterization of a specific marker gene expressed in hydathodes and stipules. *Molecular & General Genetics: MGG* 256(3), 231-238.
- Tsukaya, H. (2002). Leaf Development. The Arabidopsis Book 37(1), 1.
- Ueda, M., Koshino-Kimura, Y. & Okada, K. (2005). Stepwise understanding of root development. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 8(1), 71-76.
- Vanneste, S. & Friml, J. (2009). Auxin: a trigger for change in plant development. *Cell* 136(6), 1005-1016.
- Vernoux, T., Besnard, F. & Traas, J. (2010). Auxin at the shoot apical meristem. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 2(4), a001487.
- Vieten, A., Vanneste, S., Wisniewska, J., Benková, E., Benjamins, R., Beeckman, T., Luschnig, C. & Friml, J. (2005). Functional redundancy of PIN proteins is accompanied by auxin-dependent cross-regulation of PIN expression. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 132(20), 4521-4531.
- Vroemen, C. W., Mordhorst, A. P., Albrecht, C., Kwaaitaal, M. A. C. J. & de Vries, S. C. (2003). The CUP-SHAPED COTYLEDON3 gene is required for boundary and shoot meristem formation in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell* 15(7), 1563-1577.
- Wang, Y. & Li, J. (2008). Molecular basis of plant architecture. Annual Review of Plant Biology 59, 253-279.
- Wisniewska, J., Xu, J., Seifertová, D., Brewer, P. B., Ruzicka, K., Blilou, I., Rouquié, D., Benková, E., Scheres, B. & Friml, J. (2006). Polar PIN localization directs auxin flow in plants. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 312(5775), 883.
- Wolters, H. & Jurgens, G. (2009). Survival of the flexible: hormonal growth control and adaptation in plant development. *Nat Rev Genet* 10(5), 305-317.
- Woodward, A. W. & Bartel, B. (2005). Auxin: regulation, action, and interaction. Annals of Botany 95(5), 707-735.
- Wu, M., Tian, Q. & Reed, J. W. (2006). Arabidopsis microRNA167 controls patterns of ARF6 and ARF8 expression, and regulates both female and male reproduction. *Development (Cambridge, England)* 133(21), 4211-4218.
- Yang, H. & Murphy, A. S. (2009). Functional expression and characterization of Arabidopsis ABCB, AUX 1 and PIN auxin transporters in Schizosaccharomyces pombe. *The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology* 59(1), 179-191.
- Yang, W. C., Ye, D., Xu, J. & Sundaresan, V. (1999). The SPOROCYTELESS gene of Arabidopsis is required for initiation of sporogenesis and encodes a novel nuclear protein. *Genes & Development* 13(16), 2108-2117.
- Zazímalová, E., Murphy, A. S., Yang, H., Hoyerová, K. & Hosek, P. (2010). Auxin transporters--why so many? *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 2(3), a001552.
- Zhao, Y., Christensen, S. K., Fankhauser, C., Cashman, J. R., Cohen, J. D., Weigel, D. & Chory, J. (2001). A role for flavin monooxygenase-like enzymes in auxin biosynthesis. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 291(5502), 306-309.

- Zhao, Y. (2008). The role of local biosynthesis of auxin and cytokinin in plant development. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 11(1), 16-22.
- Zhao, Y. (2010). Auxin biosynthesis and its role in plant development. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 61, 49-64.
- Zhao, Y., Hull, A. K., Gupta, N. R., Goss, K. A., Alonso, J., Ecker, J. R., Normanly, J., Chory, J. & Celenza, J. L. (2002). Trp-dependent auxin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis: involvement of cytochrome P450s CYP79B2 and CYP79B3. *Genes & Development* 16(23), 3100-3112.
- Østergaard, L. (2009). Don't 'leaf' now. The making of a fruit. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 12(1), 36-41.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank everyone that have helped and encouraged me during my work on this thesis.

My supervisor, Eva Sundberg, for a lot of help, support and encouragement, for a friendly environment in the group and for always taking time for discussions in between all other meetings.

My co-supervisor, Jens Sundström, for interesting discussions, collaborations, support in the lab and critical reading of manuscripts and thesis.

Past and present members of the group. Izabela, Magnus, Joel, Mattias M, Katarina, Eric and Elke for collaborations, nice company and help with various things. Song for being an ambitious student with good lab skills. Special thanks to Magnus and Katarina for making it possible to get the manuscripts ready in time and for helpful comments on my thesis.

Other Friday meeting members like Jenny, Mattias T, Snehangshu, Tammy, Marisa, Adriana, Sara, Jia and Aude for interesting discussions and comments. Also thanks to Mattias T for an opportunity to do some work on moss and to Snehangshu for help in the lab.

Eric, Tom, Nurun, Daniel U, Daniel V, Naeem, Usman, Nadeem, Kjell, Selcuk, Jim, Adriana, Steffen, Kadri, Joel, Arne, Emma, Philip, Sarosh, Mats and all other innebandy players for many fun games.

Nurun, Elke, Malin, Emma, Ulrike and Izabela for nice "girls dinners", "fikas", etc and for a lot of intresting discussions about other things than science. Special thanks to Nurun who started the same week, wrote her thesis at the same time as me and has been a good friend during these five years. Also thanks to Jonas, Eric and other friends at VBSG for nice company during *e.g.* lunches, pubs, dinners and parties.

Izabela, Eric, Nurun, Jonas, Malin, Magnus, Eva and Katarina for nice company during conferences and/or following vacation. Special thanks to Nurun and Jonas for the nice weeks in Hawaii.

Everyone I have shared office 3612 with. Magnus, Jenni, Izabela, Eric, Tammy and others, for nice company, sharing of *e.g.* chocolate and fruits and for not laughing to much when I have been stretching. Also thanks to Eric for keeping me company in the office during my thesis writing time and for having a good humour that often is contagious.

Everyone in lab 3389 for chats during, sometimes tedious, lab work.

Ingela, Jonas and all other Friday fika participants for a lot of tasty cakes and some relaxing time on Friday afternoons.

Björn for all computer help. Urban and Per for keeping my plants alive. Gunilla for doing transformations. Mona, Monica, Birgitta and Lotta for administrative help. Gary Wife, Stefan Gunnarsson and Cecilia for help with microscopy.

Everyone at VBSG that have made it a nice place to work.

Karin Ljung, Tammy Baylis, Daniel V and other collaborators for contributing to the publications my thesis is based on.

My diploma work supervisors, Anna Ohlsson and Torkel Berglund, for introducing me to plant science and for encouraging me to do graduate studies.

Jenny, Erica, Anna, Lisa, Jolanta, Cissi and other friends outside VBSG for many nice dinners, "fikas" etc. and for input from the non-academic world.

My parents, brother, grandmother and other relatives for all support and for being proud of me.

My boyfriend, Mats, for making me long for the weekends and preventing me from forgetting that there are more important things in life than work and exercise.